

Faculty of Legal Sciences

School of International Studies

CULTURAL ADAPTATION STRATEGIES OF ADIDAS IN THE BRAZILIAN AND JAPANESE MARKETS

Project prior to obtaining the 'Bachelor's Degree in International Studies'

Author:

Juan Francisco Idrovo Alvarado

Advisor: **Matías Jerónimo Abad Merchán**

> Cuenca – Ecuador 2025

I dedicate this research to my greatest idol: Cristiano Ronaldo Dos Santos Aveiro. You taught me that anything in life is possible, that if I truly desire something, visualize it and decide to fight for it, it will happen. You are not only great on the soccer field, but also off it. Long life to you, human beings like you are admired by millions of people. Your discipline and personality marked the era of many soccer fans, especially Real Madrid and, of course, the Portuguese national team, which you represented in an exceptional way. I cannot leave aside my favorite team: Liga Deportiva Universitaria de Quito, no matter how many moments we had together, good or bad, but all are experiences that will last until the end.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I thank God for giving me the strength and wisdom to make decisions during these four years of college. To my family in general, especially my grandfather Enrique, my grandmother Teresa, my father Juan Carlos, my mother Mariela, and my brother Martín. They always believed in me, and having that support is one the most important things in my life. To my university friends: Nicolás Sánchez and Matías Muñoz, for being there for me through thick and thin. And of course, I thank María Inés for helping me with the thesis formats.

Long live Ecuador, blessed land of people proud of their country.

CULTURAL ADAPTATION STRATEGIES OF ADIDAS IN THE BRAZILIAN AND JAPANESE MARKETS

ABSTRACT

This research analyzes the cultural adaptation strategies that the Adidas brand has used in its international marketing campaigns aimed at the Japanese and Brazilian markets. Using a qualitative-comparative approach, ten advertising videos broadcast between 2002 and 2025 are studied, with emphasis on variables such as color, characters, narrative, setting, music and duration. In addition, two emblematic collections, Farm Rio for Brazil and Y-3 for Japan, are examined in order to identify how they fit the consumer styles and cultural preferences of each country. The results show that the brand applies differentiated approaches according to the cultural sensibilities of each country: while in Brazil, vibrant colors and soccer figures predominate, in Japan, a minimalist aesthetic is observed, with an emphasis on simple design and functionality. The study also considers consumer behavior in both countries, highlighting the strategic implications for global brands seeking to expand effectively in culturally diverse contexts.

Keywords: cultural adaptation, Adidas, Brazil, Japan, international marketing, products, advertising videos

ESTRATEGIAS DE ADAPTACIÓN CULTURAL DE ADIDAS EN LOS MERCADOS DE BRASIL Y JAPÓN

RESUMEN

Esta investigación analiza las estrategias de adaptación cultural que la marca Adidas ha utilizado en sus campañas de marketing internacional, dirigidas a los mercados de Japón y Brasil. A partir de un enfoque cualitativo-comparativo, se estudian diez videos publicitarios difundidos entre el año 2002 y 2025, con énfasis en variables como color, personajes, narrativa, escenario, música y duración. Además, se examinan dos colecciones emblemáticas, Farm Rio para Brasil, y Y-3 para Japón, con el objetivo de identificar cómo se ajustan a los estilos de consumo y las preferencias culturales de cada país. Los resultados evidencian que la marca aplica enfoques diferenciados según las sensibilidades culturales de cada país: mientras en Brasil predominan los colores vibrantes y figuras futbolísticas, en Japón se observa una estética minimalista, con énfasis en el diseño sobrio y la funcionalidad. El estudio también considera el comportamiento de consumo en ambos países, destacando las implicaciones estratégicas para marcas globales que buscan expandirse de manera efectiva en contextos diversos, culturalmente hablando.

Palabras clave: adaptación cultural, Adidas, Brasil, Japón, marketing internacional, productos, videos publicitarios

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
RESUMEN	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 1 CONCEPTS AND INTRODUCTION	3
1.2. Companies and their cultural adaptation	4
1.3. Advertising campaigns, the means to reach customers	6
1.4. What motivates the customer based on what they see	6
1.5. How colors attract customers	7
1.6. Sports marketing and its components	8
1.7. The importance of knowing how to persuade the customer	9
1.8. An approach to successful advertising campaigns	10
1.9. Iconic commercial videos, how they have reached customers	13
1.10. How Adidas has culturally adapted to Brazil and Japan	15
1.10.1. Adidas in the Latin American country's market	15
1.10.2. Adidas in the Asian country's market	16
CHAPTER 2 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF ADVERTISING IN BRAZIL AND JAPAN	18
2.1. Methodology	18
2.1.1. The critical factors that will be key to the research	19
2.1.1.1. Color	21
2.1.1.2. Characters	21
2.1.1.3. Setting	21
2.1.1.4. Narrative and Message	22
2.1.1.5. Music and Sound	22
2.1.1.6. Duration Time	22
2.1.2 The timeframe of the advertising videos to be researched	22
2.2. Comparative study of Adidas advertising videos in Brazil and Japan	24
2.2.1. Comparison Number One (2002-2004)	24
2.2.1.1. Color	25
2.2.1.2. Characters	25
2.2.1.3. Setting	26
2.2.1.4. Narrative and Message	26
2.2.1.5. Music and Sound	26
2.2.1.6. Duration Time	26
2.2.2. Comparison Number Two (2006)	27
2.2.2.1. Color	27
2.2.2.2. Characters	28

2.2.2.3. Setting	28
2.2.2.4. Narrative and Message	28
2.2.2.5. Music and Sound	28
2.2.2.6. Duration Time	29
2.2.3. Comparison Number Three (2010)	29
2.2.3.1. Color	30
2.2.3.2. Characters	30
2.2.3.3. Setting	30
2.2.3.4. Narrative and Message	31
2.2.3.5. Music and Sound	31
2.2.3.6. Duration Time	31
2.2.4. Comparison Number Four (2014)	32
2.2.4.1. Color	32
2.2.4.2. Characters	32
2.2.4.3. Setting	33
2.2.4.4. Narrative and Message	33
2.2.4.5. Music and Sound	33
2.2.4.6. Duration Time	33
2.2.5. Comparison Number Five (2024-2025)	34
2.2.5.1. Color	35
2.2.5.2. Characters	35
2.2.5.3. Setting	35
2.2.5.4. Narrative and Message	35
2.2.5.5. Music and Sound	35
2.2.5.6. Duration Time	36
2.3. How did Adidas adapt culturally between 2015 and 2023?	38
CHAPTER 3 CULTURAL ADAPTATION OF PRODUCTS, GETTING TO KNOW BOTH	
MARKETS A LITTLE BETTER	
3.1. Products adaptation	
3.1.1. Y-3 Collection	
3.1.2. Farm Rio Collection	
3.2. Consumption behavior of both markets	
3.2.1. Brazilian consumer behavior	
3.2.2. Japanese consumer behavior	
CONCLUSIONS	
BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES	50

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Adidas in the Latin American country	24
Table 2 Adidas in the Asian country	24
Table 3 Summary of the comparisons	37
LIST OF FIGURES	
Figure 1 Just Do It-Wayne Rooney	11
Figure 2 Expectations are nothing, will is everything	11
Figure 3 My expectations are higher than yours	12
Figure 4 Reetone	12
Figure 5 Find your greatness	14
Figure 6 The cup of all	14
Figure 7 Faster forever – Calling all troublemakers	15
Figure 8 It's in my country	16
Figure 9 Y-3 Spring/Summer 2025	
Figure 10 Y-3 Coach Logo Jacket	17
Figure 11 Adidas Fevernova Experiment	24
Figure 12 The ultimate search The Master	25
Figure 13 Adidas +10 Italy vs. Japan	27
Figure 14 Jose +10	27
Figure 15 Split Up Service	29
Figure 16 All teams need the spark	30
Figure 17 All or nothing	32
Figure 18 The dream	32
Figure 19 Y-3 Chapter 1, SS24	
Figure 20 I am lucky to root for Flamengo!	34
Figure 21 Create the Answer	
Figure 22 Y-3 3 Stripes Tracksuit	41
Figure 23 Adidas x Farm Premium Pants	42
Figure 24 Adicolor Short Beanie	44

INTRODUCTION

The research on Adidas cultural adaptation strategies in Brazil and Japan is especially relevant because of how different the two countries are. These cultural and market differences make the research not only challenging, but also rich in insights and learnings. Adidas offers customized products for each market, reflecting consumer preferences and cultural characteristics.

In Brazil, for example, a taste for urban fashion and soccer culture suggests that campaigns featuring big-name soccer players and vibrant designs are effective strategies for capturing the public's attention. In contrast, the Japanese market, with its penchant for minimalist aesthetics, may be more receptive to sustainable and environmentally friendly collections.

In addition, the colors used in products and campaigns must be carefully selected, as each country has unique cultural connotations. These cultural adaptations, while they may sometimes seem subtle, are fundamental to ensuring the success and acceptance of the brand in diverse markets. Therefore, understanding and implementing cultural adaptation strategies becomes a key part of Adidas' success in environments as varied as Brazil and Japan.

International marketing has, among other purposes, to design strategies so that the products and services of a brand can be adapted to the different markets to which they are directed, according to the cultural particularities of each country. It is not the same to sell a product in an American country as in an Asian one, since their perspectives, tastes and preferences are usually very different. Cultural adaptation has been fundamental to Adidas growth in various markets. In addition, companies must not only adapt to different countries, but also to the different potential niches that have been identified within each market.

The overall objective for this research is as follows: To analyze the cultural adaptation strategies implemented by Adidas in Brazil and Japan, in order to understand how the brand adjusts its products and marketing communications to align with the cultural characteristics of both markets.

The specific objectives of this study are also listed:

1. To identify key cultural differences between Brazil and Japan that influence Adidas marketing and product adaptation strategies.

- 2. To analyze the cultural adaptation strategies implemented by Adidas in each of these markets, both in terms of products and advertising campaigns.
- 3. To compare the impact of these strategies on the brand's success in the Brazilian and Japanese markets.

CULTURAL ADAPTATION STRATEGIES OF ADIDAS IN THE BRAZILIAN AND JAPANESE MARKETS

CHAPTER 1 CONCEPTS AND INTRODUCTION

In this section, key concepts will be considered, which are essential to understand the purpose of this research. The aim is to assimilate and relate them as aspects that work together, one supporting the other. International marketing and cultural adaptation are the main focuses of this study. Advertising campaigns will be discussed, these are responsible for conveying the product, service, or message in its various directions, and will be transmitted as a means for potential customers to acquire what is offered. Likewise, the components present in advertising campaigns and videos will also be analyzed to understand what motivates consumers to buy, and how they are persuaded by what they see will lead them to acquire a product or service of their choice. Colors and the use of athletes are tools that work together to achieve a specific goal, which is to communicate to the buyer the value offered by the company. A look at sports marketing and its components will be taken to understand what the world's largest sports brands have done to attract new customers and ensure that existing ones remain loyal to the company.

It is important to note that all of this is related to the cultural characteristics of each country. The product is often featured in advertising campaigns, and they will be studied in the same way, since the relationship between the advertising videos and the product is direct, not at all distant.

1.1. Internacional Marketing and how it differs from domestic marketing

To begin this section, it is important to conceptualize what international marketing is. According to Jurado and Jaramillo (2016), international marketing can be understood as the research and knowledge of the exchange nexus that a nation has under cultural, legal, and value conditions of each individual that are different from those of the nation of origin. Thus, for the purpose of understanding the basis of this research, it becomes essential to understand how domestic marketing differs from international marketing.

Keegan and Green (2009) mention that marketing can be considered as a group of processes and activities that, taking into account the manufacturing and logistics of the

product, in addition to its design, integrate the offer and value chain of a company. Local and international marketing differ due to their scope; Johnston et al. (1999, cited in Samiee and Walters 2003) assure that international marketing and its context lead to relationships that go beyond local borders, and that key players can be found anywhere in the world. Furthermore, the growing increase in globalization, strategic alliances and cooperation strategies, together with the factor of greater competition on a global scale, has generated that a considerable number of companies rethink their strategies.

"The importance of incorporating marketing management variables becomes clear when we analyze the reasons underlying the adaptation of many products in international markets" (Baalbaki and Malhotra, 1993, p. 23). This idea is closely linked to the previous paragraph, as it alludes to how companies change their strategies to connect with different markets, and therefore, with different cultures around the world. "This means acquiring an understanding and a true sense of the underlying culture of the native country in which the marketing will be carried out" (Van Heerden and Barter, 2008). Each company adapts its international marketing strategy depending on its specific needs, whatever they may be.

1.2. Companies and their cultural adaptation

Culture has already been mentioned. To understand it, we need to connect it with the cultural adaptation that companies need to undertake for their product or service to be successful. Cojocaru (n.d.) aptly establishes this connection between companies and how they adapt culturally:

Culture resists change. Normally, in life, there are always changes. This process of potential change is relevant to marketing scholars, as marketing efforts often go beyond and are more than cultural innovation. There are many factors why a culture resists new products or new ideas, as they must be perceived as needs within the culture.

We must go beyond one's own cultural beliefs; therefore, it is necessary to harmonize the company's culture with that of the national market. This idea is based on aligning the corporate culture of the company and its partners, obviously also that of foreign clients or the market to which the efforts are directed. Culture will know how to resolve the dilemma of combining one's own beliefs with others in the global market. When put into practice, this dilemma means respecting people and adapting to the target culture (p. 53).

Llamazares (2016) provides extremely detailed and comprehensive information on how global markets vary, fully linked to how companies must adapt to enter new cultures and succeed, taking into account brand perception. First, he talks about how globalization has favored multinational companies, in the sense of offering the same product to customers in different parts of the world, but it cannot be assumed that foreign markets have many similarities. If some companies have managed to succeed in this regard, it is thanks to their advertising, in which they have invested significant amounts of money, knowing how to transmit a brand image, reaching a fairly similar segment in the world.

Even so, consumers in different markets remain diverse, and even more so given that these differences often, far from narrowing, actually widen over time. This author provides us with several marketing perspectives, but we should focus on the ones that, in my opinion, are the most important: cultural, religious, and economic.

The first perspective, mentioned above, encompasses aspects such as traditions, customs, and values, which determine what is important, correct, and desirable for a specific group. In societies like Germany and Japan, thrift is viewed favorably; in Mediterranean countries, there is a tendency toward consumption. In Brazil, there is a taste for youth; in Eastern culture, for tradition.

Regarding the second perspective, Llamazares, in this same book, mentions that a World Bank report stated that thirty-two countries account for eighty percent of the world's GNP, and that two-thirds of this economic metric comes from countries like the United States, Canada, and Japan, among others. The GNP per capita in countries like Mozambique, a poor state, is \$400; while in countries like Switzerland, it is \$60,000. An equally important fact is economic growth; the regions that have grown significantly are Asia, with seven percent, and Africa, with five percent. It will depend on how the company wants to position itself in people's minds, whether it offers low-cost products or services or luxury ones.

It is also necessary to explain what the product being sold is and its price, since both buyers have their differences. Castro and Lerma (2010) accurately define what is required, mentioning that the product is the good or service destined to be sold in the market, those products that are desired in the target market must be identified; on the other hand, the price, for its part, is the monetary value that is assigned to a product, with which an economic benefit will be obtained.

1.3. Advertising campaigns, the means to reach customers

Now, we understand what international marketing is and its relationship with culture. Therefore, we must understand the importance of advertising campaigns and the different aspects used to make a product or service attractive enough to be sold.

"An advertising campaign encompasses a company's efforts to increase awareness of a particular product or service, or to increase consumer awareness of a business or organization" (Ancin, 2018). Universidad Europea (2024)supports this definition and complements it by mentioning that an advertising campaign consists of tools designed to communicate strategic messages and, thus, achieve greater positioning and influence the target audience. This also takes into account that the advertising campaign has a defined timeframe.

The aforementioned tools do not work on their own; something more must be involved for the advertising campaign to be successful, and of course, for sales to increase as a result. This is why Malär et al. (2011) assert that psychological bonds with brands, which are emotional brand connections, lead to more advanced levels of competitive advantage and company performance. Akgun et al. (2013) comment that emotional branding is essential for companies to go beyond, breaking through the clutter, and establishing a distinctive association in today's market, due to its saturated nature. Products and services must be distinguished by casual, technological, and advantage-based differences.

Jiménez et al. (2019) make a very accurate statement, saying that the customer can have emotional commitment to the brand and the product, when the fiber of their feelings is touched, therefore, a commercial strategy must be developed to reach the consumer to be able to identify with the brand's message.

1.4. What motivates the customer based on what they see

Humans are attracted to what they see and like. This involves multiple factors, and of course, it is essential to know how to manage this issue in advertising campaigns. Fernández et al. (2023) argue that advertising is a form of communication that seeks to persuade, using narrative or visual strategies to capture the buyer's attention. Advertising literacy plays a crucial role in how humans interpret and respond to advertising messages. This discernment skill allows consumers to develop critical thinking and be attracted to certain ads.

Yalán (2021) mentions that creativity always attracts consumers. Popular advertising is based on regional aesthetics and local narratives, and they resonate much more with audiences than high-budget campaigns that seek to massively reach. This proves that the cultural adaptation of advertising campaigns is successful because it makes a group of people identify with something that attracts them, with their own values and experiences. Villacís and Medina (2023) affirm that the use of clear messages and striking visual elements are essential to capture attention, obtaining an emotional connection and loyalty.

Since most buyers are connected through all media, advertising must adapt to everything new and effective according to its strategy. Palma et al. (2023)assert that digital advertising strategies are designed to influence buyer behavior, using and analyzing data to maximize its effectiveness. Being clear about this allows for increased ad relevance, as ads are present in more places and will be seen by many more people.

1.5. How colors attract customers

Now, people respond differently to what they like, based on what they see. Color is an important factor in advertising campaigns and products, and cultural adaptation is also bound to take into account this important issue. Vladimirova and Marinov (2017) support the above idea, as they mention the following:

In marketing, the use of colors from the perspective of multicultural communication is a subject of interdisciplinary research, as it has a broad scientific basis. The main factors in shaping color perception, based on universal human psychophysiology, are: the social environment, situational experiences, and culture. The cultural and individual characteristics of the buyer, of course, related to colors, merit more indepth scientific study (p. 1159).

Moral and González (2023) assure that color can have multiple effects on people's perceptions, for example, the degree of quality that customers attribute to goods, this depending on the color of the packaging. Attached to this idea, not only the colors in the packaging are a topic of discussion for the marketing experts of each company, the brand is also part of this debate, which is why Kumar (2017) comments that brands must produce an effective visual identity, through the good use of color, therefore, a logo is more attractive to the customer when the colors have a meaning that coincides with the personality of the services or products that the company offers.

1.6. Sports marketing and its components

Sports marketing is central to this research, since, as everyone knows, Adidas is a sports company. Unir Magazine (2025) notes that sports marketing is a strategy focused on using the feelings and emotions that sports generate to promote and thus sell goods and services, seeking to generate a relationship between brands and sports.

EAE Business School Barcelona (2024) provides some sports marketing strategies:

- 1. Sponsorship and strategic partnerships: Companies associate their brands with the values of sports. For example, Nike became the supplier of all NBA team uniforms, which gave the brand greater visibility in the basketball world.
- Merchandise and personalized products: Fans purchase merchandise related to their favorite teams and athletes to show their loyalty and support. Brands can make this strategy even more effective by offering exclusive and personalized products that connect with fans' emotions.
- 3. Live experiences: Sporting events are a unique opportunity, creating experiences that brands can leverage to generate activations, such as direct engagement with attendees, to create an immediate impact and increase long-term loyalty.
- 4. Content marketing and storytelling: Teams and brands leverage the value of telling stories that resonate with their audiences. By sharing inspiring stories about the dedication of athletes or the achievements of a team, sports institutions will build a deeper connection with their fans.

Having considered teams previously, we can now discuss these sports institutions. Ramírez and Perdiguero (2006) argue that a great club is more than just a sports society, but rather is made up of sports experts on the field, sports fans in the stands, and those who enjoy sports in management. This is why it is necessary to go further. They are now owners of star brands on the field, management and marketing professionals in the box and in the offices, as well as all kinds of fans in front of the television and in the stands.

To gain a clearer understanding of what has been said about sports marketing, Moreira and Hijós (2013) point out that the modernization process of sports clubs was made up of a series of pillars: sports marketing, the growth of sponsoring companies, the club also conceived as a brand, the sale of original assets, and the remodeling of stadiums to convert them into tourist and conference centers.

"No one is as good as all of them together" Alfredo Di Stefano (1959). This phrase can be interpreted as reflecting the importance of each and every person who makes up a sports institution, from the smallest, such as the player, to the largest, such as the president, and, of course, those in charge of sports marketing, whose importance has already been acknowledged in the information provided.

1.7. The importance of knowing how to persuade the customer

Now that we know the usefulness of color in advertising campaigns, we can also talk about advertising videos, which, by the way, are part of advertising campaigns and also use color to capture attention. Here, we can highlight some factors in sports videos.

First, the use of celebrities in advertising videos. To begin, according to Bergkvist and Zhou (2016), celebrity endorsements are based on hiring famous figures, such as athletes or artists, to personally promote a specific product or brand. Mccracken (1989) asserts that a consumer associates various symbolic meanings with a celebrity, which are transferred to the good being promoted through the endorsement, and then from the product to the consumer through purchase and consumption. He also identified that endorsements by some well-known figures work better than others due to the natural relationship between the good and the celebrity—this speaks to cultural meanings and images.

Likewise, Escalas and Bettman (2003) comment that the self-esteem motives and the identification process together suggests a relationship between celebrity appearances and consumers: the latter possess a self-esteem motivation to act in ways that establish and enhance their own ideal selves, and view celebrities as inspirational figures with desired meanings for implementing their ideal selves. Now that the relationship between consumers and celebrities is clear, it is necessary to have a vision of how the brand connects with the customer.

Choi and Rifon (2012) provide this information, stating that the concordance between the customer's actual image and the image of a brand is self-congruence, while optimal congruence refers to the concordance between a brand's image and the customer's ideal image. This first point has established a connection between the person transmitting the message, the person buying, and the person selling.

Second, the length of an advertising video. Marin et al. (2024) comment that in the current context, digital platforms are the main disseminators of content, and they have had

to adapt to the behaviors and preferences of buyers. Likewise, advertising videos focused on sports tend to last, on average, between 15 and 60 seconds, depending on the objective of the advertisement and the platform on which the video is published. Fernández and Pastor (2016) highlight, in contrast to the above, that longer advertisements, which can last up to 60 seconds or more, are usually published on YouTube, for example, where viewers are more willing to see this type of longer videos, especially if they are about narratives featuring well-known sports figures.

To conclude this second point, Martínez and Vizcaíno (2021) argue that the context in which the advertisement is presented also influences its duration, since, in sporting events, speed and emotion are key, direct and concise advertisements tend to be more effective. This is due to the fact that viewers are more anxious about the event itself and may not be as receptive to lengthy advertising messages.

1.8. An approach to successful advertising campaigns

It is important to understand some of the advertising campaigns of the world's most famous sports brands, how they have performed, and how they have been able to seduce their target audiences. For this section, we rely on Flora et al. (2015), who conducted a study of Nike, Adidas, and Reebok, highlighting their advertising campaigns, as well as their components such as the character and the message. First, the interpretation will be presented, followed by a figure from each campaign.

It starts with Nike, this one in particular was taken from El Confidencial (2015). For its description and denotative analysis, there is a frontal photograph of a naked character, which is Wayne Rooney. He has both arms extended, his fists closed and his mouth visibly wide open, to represent a rather loud scream. His white body has a red cross, which is the same tone as the logo in the lower right. Next to the logo, there is the phrase Just Do It, an expression that encourages activity, and not to be afraid of obstacles. The background of the image is completely white, which gives the opportunity to the color red to be the protagonist since it looks much more representative.

In its symbolic or connotative analysis, what initially catches the attention of those unfamiliar with the footballer is the red cross on his pale body. On the other hand, the allusion to Jesus is immediate; if the character's face was hidden, most responses would point to that idea. Also, as mentioned before, it is the same color as the Nike logo; the brand can derive symbolic meaning from color schemes.

Figure 1
Just Do It-Wayne Rooney



Note: Red cross and white body in Adidas advertising campaign. (2006). Just Do It. El Confidencial. https://www.elconfidencial.com/deportes/2006-06-22/wayne-rooney-protagonista-de-la-nueva-campana-de-nike 664398/

The second brand to be discussed is Adidas, taken from Goliat (2020). The description and denotative analysis is based on a soccer player, familiar to every fan, Lionel Messi, wearing the Argentine national team jersey. He appears in a running position towards the viewer, looking up. At the top left, there is the phrase *EXPECTATIONS ARE NOTHING*, *WILLPOWER IS EVERYTHING*, and at the bottom left, there is the Adidas logo and the phrase *WE ARE DIFFERENT*.

For symbolic or connotative analysis, there is the phrase that accompanies the footballer, directly referencing the advertisement that Cristiano Ronaldo made for Nike, by Torres (2009), so that for someone who sees it, and is unfamiliar with the rivalry, it would be a little disconcerting. Something very interesting is Messi's tranquility and peace in this campaign, totally different from that of the aforementioned Portuguese player, since he is presented with a lot of tension. And also, the golden color of the logo and the phrase just below it, shows wealth and power.

Figure 2
Expectations are nothing, will is everything



Note: Lionel Messi, as the main figure in Adidas' advertising campaign (2010). Expectations are nothing, will is everything. Goliat. https://www.grupogoliat.com/nike-vs-adidas-el-otro-clasico/

Figure 3 *My expectations are higher than yours*



Note: Cristiano Ronaldo appears as a sports celebrity in an Adidas advertising campaign. (2009). My expectations are higher than yours.

Torres. https://sinfuturoysinunduro.wordpress.com/2009/08/29/publicidad-que-mina-la-moral-mis-expectativas-son-mayores-que-lastuyas/

And the last brand is Reebok, taken from Tienda Fácil (2011). First, there is the denotative analysis and description, where the connotation that sportswear has become everyday wear is captured in this advertising campaign. Three women can be seen sitting next to an armchair, and it is also evident that they are wearing Reebok shoes. But unlike other moments, the syllable "Ree" is combined with the "tone," alluding to the varied color scheme seen in the ad. The brand name also appears in a small window in the lower right corner.

In symbolic analysis, it is clear that this ad distances itself from the world of sports and instead focuses on women's fashion, even though it is sponsored by a sports brand. Another question arises as to whether the persuasive strategies favor health and exercise habits, or whether they merely promote footwear and a certain type of clothing.

Figure 4
Reetone



Note: Sporty, fashionable women appear in Reebok's advertising campaign. (2009). *Reetone*. Tienda Fácil. https://www.wqusales.store/?ggcid=1644502

1.9. Iconic commercial videos, how they have reached customers

Once successful advertising campaigns have been seen, more dynamic media are used to reach consumers, such as advertising videos. Three of the aforementioned will be considered, which will provide an extremely broad perspective for what will come next.

We can begin this section with Nike's (2012) advertising video, "Find Your Greatness." To describe it, RunMX (2012) argues that the video conveys the message that not only record-breakers or championship athletes aspire to surpass their limits, but also athletes who strive every day to excel by setting and achieving personal goals. It is a powerful message to inspire all those who want to achieve greatness in sports.

Now, what this advertising video consists of: it shows athletes from around the world training, playing, and competing, and the interesting thing is that all the locations are called London. In one of the first scenes, a man is shown doing sit-ups at the London Gym, then cuts to a rugby match in East London, South Africa, where a boy crosses a line and takes on a larger opponent.

In other places, such as Little London, located in Jamaica, a female boxer strikes with precision and skill. Similarly, in London, located in Ohio, you can see a baseball player focused on catching the ball and throwing to first base with great skill. An interesting component of this advertising video is the voiceover of Mexican host and singer Leonardo de Lonzane, in which he emphasizes that greatness is not exclusive to superstar athletes, but also to all who aspire to something more.

It also takes into account cultural adaptation, as a team of Muslim women celebrate on a soccer field—specifically, at the London School in Qatar. Another message it aims to convey is that greatness has no established place in the world. The video ends with a boy about to perform his first dive off a diving board in a swimming pool. It is a defining moment, his moment of greatness.

Figure 5 *Find your greatness*



Note: Cultural adaptation of Muslim women in Nike's advertising video. (2012). *Find your greatness*. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Tz2643pkb6k

The second commercial to study is Coca Cola's (2014) commercial, "La Copa de Todos" (Everyone's Cup). LatinSpots.com (2014a) reports that this commercial, created by Martín Mercado for the 2014 World Cup, draws a parallel between a soccer match and life. It also shows how passionate Argentinians are about soccer, unique, and incomparable. The video was produced by Blue and directed by Pucho Mentasti.

It also invites us to live every moment of life, giving our all at every stage and in every minute of the match. Furthermore, it completes the World Cup campaign, seeking to generate incredible experiences and reach people with unique ideas, as Coca-Cola is a sponsor of the 2014 World Cup. Everything revolves around the idea that in life, like in an Argentine national team match, you win and you lose, but the most important thing is to give your all on the field.

Figure 6 *The cup of all*



Note: The Argentine enjoys football, a legacy passed down from generation to generation, in a Coca-Cola commercial. (2014). The cup of all. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F_jYyuvHfv0

And as a final advertising video, there is Puma's (2014) Faster Forever - Calling All Troublemakers, featuring world-class stars like Usain Bolt. LatinSpots.com (2014b) asserts that the athletes featured in the commercial seek to stand out as individuals, along with their

sports personalities. Soccer players like Sergio Agüero, Mario Balotelli, and others, golfers Lexi Thompson and Rickie Fowler, and the Ferrari team appear.

All of the aforementioned challenge paradigms and take risks through confidence, courage, and determination, the fun of being able to adapt, the feeling of being the best, and the thrill of being first. It is not just a commercial or a simple platform; it is also a business mentality: identifying innovations and product designs, styles, and trends to dynamically bring them to market. Presenting themselves as the fastest sports brand in the global sphere, always known as a risk-taker, is something that will never change.

Figure 7Faster forever – Calling all troublemakers



Note: Usain Bolt, as a renowned athlete, is one of the key figures in this Puma advertising video. (2014). Faster forever – Calling all troublemakers. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AC3slFbgMyw

1.10. How Adidas has culturally adapted to Brazil and Japan

1.10.1. Adidas in the Latin American country's market

Adidas, which, in its international marketing, reaches Brazilians with the faces of soccer players from that country. Tomasi et al. (2014) take as a reference an Adidas advertising poster promoting the 2014 World Cup, in which you can see Dani Alves, a Brazilian soccer player, next to a striking phrase: it's in my country; on the other hand, the color that can be easily noticed is green, since it is the color of his national team's jersey. With this, it is clear that two of the strongest factors that Adidas has carried out in cultural adaptation in Brazil are the use of athletes and representative colors of the country.

Figure 8
It's in my country



Note: Brazilian Daniel Alves, collaborating on an advertising campaign with Adidas. (2014). It is in my country. https://portalintercom.org.br/anais/sul2014/expocom/EX40-1683-1.pdf

1.10.2. Adidas in the Asian country's market

Japan, a very different culture from Brazil. Xu (2024) comments that Adidas collaborates with Japanese artists, resulting in designs that fuse sports culture with artistic expressions. This collaboration was with fashion designer Yohji Yamamoto, through which Adidas was able to find meaning in the Japanese minimalist aesthetic and sportswear with its functionality, the result was the Y-3 collection, which created a fusion of Japanese beliefs and design, in addition to the sports identity of the brand in question, an innovative cultural language in the sports and fashion industries. A garment from this collection is shown, in order to have a better understanding, so that it can be observed in an efficient way, this product is the Y-3 Coach Logo Jacket, from the year 2025.

Figure 9 *Y-3 Spring/Summer 2025*



Note: Use of white, black and grey in this Adidas advertising video. (2025). Y-3 Spring/Summer 2025. Adidas. https://www.adidas.es/y 3

Figure 10 Y-3 Coach Logo Jacket



Note: Japanese models promoting Adidas clothing. (2025). Y-3 Coach Logo Jacket. Adidas. https://www.adidas.co/chaqueta-logo-coach-y-3/IQ2137.html

CHAPTER 2 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF ADVERTISING IN BRAZIL AND JAPAN

In this chapter, we will detail the methodology for conducting the research, that is, how it will proceed, what guidelines it will follow, and why it will be done that way. Once this is understood, the study itself will begin, which refers to the comparison of the advertising videos that the Adidas brand has culturally adapted in Brazil and Japan. Once the comparisons are made, we will proceed to create a table showing the differences between advertising videos from one country to another. Therefore, we will first have a broad and detailed overview of the critical marketing factors, followed by a table with specific information on each of the marketing variables.

Once the process is complete, the differences in how Brazilians and Japanese are visually attracted will become clear. What a company needs to do to gain traction in both countries, how to be successful, and how to reach both audiences more effectively. The variables of comparison will be crucial, as commercials are the result of a set of factors that humans consider in order to be convinced or rejected by a company, Adidas in this case.

2.1. Methodology

For the development of this research, qualitative methodology will be used. M. Sánchez (2005) points out that qualitative research can be defined as the harmonization of certain collection procedures, theories that privilege the researchers' meaning, and analytical models that are typically inductive. The researcher is personally involved in the collection process; Sánchez is part of that instrument. The aforementioned method is par excellence for those concerned with understanding meanings, such as observing, listening and understanding.

Osejo (2021) asserts that qualitative methodology is research articulated based on the interpretation of texts, seeking to understand human experiences and meanings. It involves recognizing the subjectivity of what is being researched and the objective being studied, giving importance to the need for reflective planning in the design of quality research. Also, this work will have a comparative focus on the international marketing strategies that Adidas must manage, due to the cultural adaptation in the two countries: Brazil and Japan.

It is important to have an idea, however general, of how the methodology used works, in one way or another. Peña (2006) states that, along with the stages of qualitative research,

it is possible to transcend mere description to allow access to explanatory and/or comprehensive ideas and formulations. Therefore, it is necessary to understand these stages in order to understand how the research will proceed, in order to have a broad and well-understood overview of the process that will lead to the results and conclusions.

First, formulation is the stage at which research begins and is characterized by specifying and explaining what is to be investigated and the reason for it. Second, design is the consistent action that prepares an emerging plan, which will guide contact with the object of study and how knowledge about it will be obtained. The third stage is execution, which corresponds to the observation of the research, proceeding through the use of one or more strategies to connect with what is being investigated, generally conducting the study itself.

And fourth, closure, which seeks to organize and systematize the information recurrently throughout the process, as well as the results of the work. This is based on the need to generate knowledge in direct contact with the research, depending on what is being examined, as it can have social, personal, cultural, and other meanings. Once the information is organized and complete, the process will be practically complete; the findings can now be understood, and the theory will have been linked to the practice.

2.1.1. The critical factors that will be key to the research

Once we understand what qualitative research is, it is helpful to be more explicit about what it will actually do. Accordingly, it should be mentioned that this research will be comparative, comparing what Adidas has done in the American and Asian countries, explaining why certain characteristics exist in one and why they are different in the other. Critical factors play a recognized role in this study, as they will provide a clearer view and allow us to see how an Adidas advertising video in Japan and one in Brazil truly differ, and how they influence buyer perceptions of the brand.

Critical factors in marketing, according to Kwan (2022), are fundamental elements that play a role in the successful function and execution of different marketing strategies, enabling organizations to achieve their business objectives and adapt to changes in the environment. Consequently, it is important to be clear about what these critical factors will be studied and, consequently, what parameters will be taken into account to understand the changes between the two markets.

For the study of advertising videos, an evaluation model was structured based on the critical marketing factors, which will be listed shortly, which can also be referred to as

analytical variables. Now, as to why these aspects were chosen and not others, it should be emphasized that the analysis will be comparative, that is, each variable will be a parameter of study. Every continent, region, and country in the world is different; that is the reason for this research; that motivates this study, which focuses on the cultural adaptation of the marketing of such a large brand that has earned a name over the years.

Based on the review of various authors, who will be mentioned when supporting the theory, and listing the critical factors mentioned below, a comparative analysis model has been developed that will allow us to identify how international marketing differs by culture.

It is thought, as a contribution to the research, that color will be present in every moment of our lives, and of course, in advertising videos as well. Each color has a general meaning; in each country, they can have similarities, and they can also change depending on the history of its people. Characters provide something to talk about, as they can be famous, much more used than people who are not, but who can also have a favorable meaning; they will help the audience see the version they want to become. The setting represents the essence of the target audience, the place where people live day to day. Feeling at home is the priority we seek to convey, the environment to which they are accustomed, which could be a small court in a poor neighborhood in Brazil, or high-performance centers in Japan.

The narrative and the message conveyed are the framework within which a product or a sporting event is promoted. The words that come together to communicate what is behind the scenes can be a simple word from an ordinary child or a storytelling by Neymar Junior. It depends on what is sought to convey values, beliefs, lifestyles, and more. The music and sound in Brazil, for example, are more urban and festive; in Japan, with sudden silences and a harmonious sound, completely related to the people of each country: louder in one place and quieter and colder in another. People in one country may prefer more specific advertising videos, while others have no problem watching a longer one. It even depends on the way they want everything faster. Just as one town may be busier than another, and they want something flashy and concise.

However, factors such as gender equality will not be considered for this research, as it is a highly controversial topic, and the aim is not to generate debate, but rather to encourage reading and enjoyment of a well-developed study. Filming angles are another factor that can be compared, but there is not enough experience or knowledge to consider them. Furthermore, it may already be the subject of another study, perhaps for a career related to

acting and film. Based on the above arguments, it is clear why some variables will be compared and others left out, seeking to conduct a study that is attuned to one's own knowledge and contributes.

It is worth noting that the adaptation of Adidas products in both markets will also be studied, to understand not only how buyers are attracted through audiovisual means, but also the characteristics of the products. Two high-impact collections will be studied in a specific and concise manner, one from Adidas for Brazil and one for Japan, to understand the brand's success and its specific characteristics. In addition, a brief overview of both consumers will be provided, including a more specific aspect of why they buy something: their consumer behavior.

2.1.1.1. Color

According to Odetti (2021), cultural adaptation plays a pivotal role in how color is perceived in various contexts. Some colors can trigger specific cultural associations and emotions that vary across regions. This has led companies to adapt their color palettes to better engage with local audiences. To ensure their messages are not only compelling, they must also be culturally relevant.

2.1.1.2. Characters

Partzsch (2018) argues that it is crucial to understand how celebrities can influence the perception of culture in certain goods, which generates purchasing behavior. This idea is supported by Fusté (2018), who argues that integrating celebrities, even more important than characters who are not well-known to the public but equally relevant, in a culturally appropriate way, not only generates greater effectiveness in advertising, but also ensures that what is communicated can be adapted to the values and expectations of the audience it is directed at.

2.1.1.3. Setting

Villegas et al. (2020) provide insight into this critical factor, stating that the location where advertising videos are recorded is relevant to their effectiveness. The location provides a visual framework that highlights the message being communicated and also influences the emotional connection buyers have with the ad. Consumers relate better to content produced in familiar, recognizable, and culturally significant settings for the target audience.

2.1.1.4. Narrative and Message

This critical factor is essential in cultural adaptation; it allows brands to connect emotionally with their target audience, making communication memorable. Álvarez and Jiménez (2022) point out that narrative is part of people's daily lives and their social practices, suggesting that these advertising stories contribute to building the identity of the future consumer.

2.1.1.5. Music and Sound

Palencia (2022) mentions that when silence and sound effects are used strategically, advertising benefits from effective communication. With this in mind, it may also be beneficial to mention the opinions of Albarracin et al. (2022), who support this topic by stating that, in certain contexts, the absence of sound can focus on the central message; on the other hand, music can enrich the advertisement's narrative and the emotional atmosphere. This multifaceted approach captures the audience's attention and highlights aspects of the service or good.

2.1.1.6. Duration Time

Aymerich (2013) notes that interactivity should be considered in advertising, as it modifies the way video time is used. Interactive forms of advertising reveal that attention span can be longer if the buyer feels engaged with the advertising message. This means that the perfect video length is not just a matter of time; it must be integrated into something more, into an interactive experience.

2.1.2 The timeframe of the advertising videos to be researched

Since there are hundreds of Adidas advertising videos in Japan and Brazil, it is necessary to determine the time period from which they will be taken, that is, from which year to which year. First, it should be made clear that five advertising videos for the brand in Brazil and five for the brand in Japan will be compared, which, generally speaking, would result in ten videos. The aforementioned number is optimal for conducting this research. Considering the critical factors listed, there will be five comparisons, since two videos will be compared, each with similar year.

A case must be made for why ten videos will be taken, why not more, and why not fewer. Managing this number of videos will allow for a balanced sample, avoiding data saturation, which would create an unwieldy study, resulting in a lack of depth and an incomplete work. It is believed that with the ten videos, in-depth research can be conducted, since the time required to conduct this research is not long; on the contrary, it is short.

Considering five Adidas videos from each country will provide a significant contribution of ideas. Studying more videos would lead to gaps in one way or another, since, as stated in the previous paragraph, time is not optimal for conducting more extensive research. Supporting this idea, Melo (2024) asserts that methodological rigor is essential in a quality study; focusing on a specific and comprehensive approach allows for much more detailed exploration. Likewise, research that conducts an in-depth analysis of a specific topic can yield valuable data, as it provides information for drawing useful conclusions, even though its length may not be as long.

Sánchez (2007) adds that extensive research may lack quality; if the time to conduct the research is not optimal, it can result in the accumulation of irrelevant data. This would result in an incomplete interpretation of the data obtained and its processing, reducing the effectiveness of the research. This would lead to misleading and erroneous conclusions, lacking a balance between quality and quantity, resulting in the researcher losing confidence.

With this in mind, it should be noted that these advertising videos were taken between 2002, the year in which the World Cup was held, and more importantly, it was played in Japan and South Korea. Obviously, Adidas participated with its Fevernova commercial, in which Japanese soccer players test the World Cup ball. According to Ugalde and Rodríguez (2021), the winning teams of various men's World Cups had much higher ball possession than their rivals. This is related to the characteristics of the Fevernova ball during play, since the manufacturing technique and its design can impact ball possession and player performance.

It should be noted that one of the most important characteristics that Japanese people consider when purchasing a product is its quality, which is why this advertising video was a success and a great starting point for the study. There is a starting point, and there must be an end point, it is thought that it should be the year 2025, since it is best to study up to the present, according to Chaurasia et al. (2023) Adidas has adopted a masstige strategy that captures a wider audience and luxury consumers, which has caused its buyers to pay premium prices for what is offered. Also, Chen (2023) states that the success of the brand

has been contemplated by sports sponsorships, has created significant partnerships and greater positioning, such as the agreement with the Club de Regatas do Flamengo.

2.2. Comparative study of Adidas advertising videos in Brazil and Japan

Next, the respective comparisons of the commercials will be made. This will allow the reader to understand how Adidas has culturally adapted its international marketing to capture the two audiences in question, one American and the other Asian.

Table 1 *Adidas in the Latin American country*

Brand	Country	Name of the advertising video	Year
Adidas	Brazil	The ultimate search The Master	2004
Adidas	Brazil	Jose +10	2006
Adidas	Brazil	All teams need the spark	2010
Adidas	Brazil	The dream	2014
Adidas	Brazil	I am lucky to root for Flamengo!	2025

Note: Summary of some advertising videos that the company culturally adapted for Brazil

Table 2 *Adidas in the Asian country*

Brand	Country	Name of the advertising video	Year
Adidas	Japan	Adidas Fevernova Experiemnt	2002
Adidas	Japan	Adidas +10 Italy vs. Japan	2006
Adidas	Japan	Split Up Service	2010
Adidas	Japan	All or nothing	2014
Adidas	Japan	Y-3 Chapter 1, SS24	2024

Note: Summary of some advertising videos that the company culturally adapted for Japan

2.2.1. Comparison Number One (2002-2004)

Figure 11 *Adidas Fevernova Experiment*



Note: Two football players from the Japanese national team try the official ball of the 2002 FIFA World Cup. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BxEH9SCvsWQ

Figure 12
The ultimate search The Master



Note: Zinedine Zidane is in search of that special player, the one with a magic never seen before, and that player is Kaká. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KY5ojVcy1SE

2.2.1.1. Color

In the Japanese commercial, the color blue is the most striking, as it is part of the national team's uniform, present on the jersey and the jerseys. Falero and González (2023) argue that blue is associated with tranquility and peace and can also be related to the philosophy of harmony that exists in the country's culture. A very interesting fact about why the uniform is blue is that, in 1930, this country debuted wearing that color at the Far Eastern Games; its players were part of the Tokyo Imperial University.

In the case of the other commercial, it features a mix of dark and light colors, so it can be said that it does not focus on a single color, but rather offers variety. Brazilian festivities are the reason why many colors are used together in the commercials. Worldpackers (2024) mentions that if anything can identify Brazil, it is its colorful and rhythmic festivals. This indicates that diversity in Brazil is very well accepted, as the colors also come from African and indigenous influences.

2.2.1.2. Characters

In the case of the first advertising video, two national team soccer players can be seen, Shunsuke Nakamura and Noki Matsuda, this due to Quintairos (2020), who assures that cultural homogeneity in Japan is a relevant aspect, so much so that this culture denies group membership to those social minorities. Something similar happens with the second commercial, since the Brazilian player Kaká appears, who, by the way, has been the face of Adidas on many occasions when he was at his best. This communicates that both audiences are attracted just by seeing their national team players, of course, the more famous, the better.

2.2.1.3. Setting

Now, we can start with the Adidas commercial in Brazil, in which we can see different places, from an airplane flight to a soccer field, as it is already known, this sport is vital for the public of the country of Rio, which will make them give it greater importance if they see that rectangle where their idols play. On the other hand, in the advertising video for Japan, it is totally different, since the setting shown is a clinic, there are no other places, because the narrative focuses only on that health institution. Cea (2014) argues that, in the general Japanese design, the minimalist sense is very strong, transmitting ideas in a concrete and clear way, the simple.

2.2.1.4. Narrative and Message

Adidas in Japan, in its commercial, features two soccer players: Naoki Matsuda and Shunsuke Nakamura, testing the Fevernova ball, this takes place at the Institute for the Study of Footballitis. Montes de Oca (2021) alludes to the aforementioned, since, after the Second World War, Japan has developed its manufacturing industry, taking into account models for quality management, which is why the Japanese are so demanding in the quality of goods, that is what the advertising video makes an allusion. On the other hand, the commercial for Brazil shows the journey of improvement that Kaká had to make to reach the top of football, from his home when he was little to playing for the most important teams in the world.

2.2.1.5. Music and Sound

There is an intriguing and perhaps relaxing sound in the brand's advertising video in the Asian country, which actually works well, since we are waiting for the soccer player to kick the ball and prove his quality. On the other hand, in the commercial for Brazil, there is a slightly terrifying sound and at the same time a voice telling a story; it is a path that a player had to go through; we also hear a glorifying sound, and later screams after a goal. Contreras (2008) makes a comment about silence in Japan, mentioning that it is commonly associated with respect for the space of others, and introspection, which is why, at least in this year of comparison, both countries are very different.

2.2.1.6. Duration Time

As is commonly known, brevity plays a significant role in Japanese society, as does efficiency and punctuality, in addition to quickly conveying messages, which are more effective. And yes, indeed, the commercial under study, which lasts twenty-nine seconds,

clearly conveys the idea: testing the ball and also promoting it. In contrast, there is the Adidas commercial for Brazil, which lasts two minutes and thirty-one seconds. Brazilians are eager to watch it. It should be emphasized that there is a story involved; it is necessary to watch it in full to understand how it ends.

2.2.2. Comparison Number Two (2006)

Figure 13
Adidas +10 Italy vs. Japan



Note: The Japan and Italy national teams prepare to face each other in a football match prior to the 2006 FIFA World Cup. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hSMSGloO2so

Figure 14 *Jose* +10



Note: In a neighborhood, which is alluded to as a favela, a football match takes place with stars from all around the world. In it, Kaká appears as a reinforcement for one of the teams. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9uClfEc8CxQ

2.2.2.1. Color

In the Adidas advertising video for Japan, there are a variety of colors, but, at the end of the commercial, you can see the white color worn by the soccer player, García et al. (2018) mentions that the use of the aforementioned color, in marketing as an area of knowledge, seeks to convey transparency and clarity, both vital to building trust with the buyer. So far, the use of a single specific color can be noticed in the Japanese soccer players' uniforms, a peculiarity already found, because this culture is minimalist. On the other hand, in the commercial for Brazil, a variety of colors can be seen, which is another peculiarity and, at

the same time, a difference between both cultures, an adaptation of the company in both countries.

2.2.2.2. Characters

In this case, the logic is the same as the previous comparison, since both audiences are attracted to their soccer players. On the one hand, there is Kaká, an icon that Adidas in Brazil was able to instill in people's minds. It surely worked effectively, since when the same thing is used consistently, it is because it produces good results. However, it is worth mentioning the use of the two children who make up the two teams to play a soccer match. In the other commercial, soccer player Shunsuke Nakamura appears, who was also the face of the company's commercial in question for the previous comparison, just like Kaká.

2.2.2.3. Setting

In the first video, there are different places where it was recorded, an interesting fact is that the first scenario is in a Kendo training center, Ito (2021) assures that Kendo is a martial art born in Japan, it has advanced from a combat art to a sports practice focused on the development of people's character, this shows a clear cultural adaptation, as Kendo is transcendental. On the other hand, Adidas for Brazil, focused on having a scenario as similar to a favela as possible, attaching to the idea of the place where millions of people live, it is so famous for it. The fact that there are graffiti on the walls, clothes hanging on wires, is the essence of Brazil and much of South America.

2.2.2.4. Narrative and Message

It is possible to start this section with Brazil. A seemingly bored boy sees his friend arrive and invites him to play soccer. Afterward, the two put together teams with different world soccer stars, including, of course, Kaká. The game unfolds through extraordinary plays, extraordinary saves, and excitement. At the end of the match, the mother of one of the boys, shouting, Latin American-style, tells him to go back home. On the other hand, and very differently, in Japan, the Japanese national team prepares to play its match against Italy. It tells how they get ready for action. Amidst the comments from both sides, the teams walk out onto the field, and the flags of both teams can be seen, as the match begins.

2.2.2.5. Music and Sound

In the video adapted for Japan, you can see the sound, which is also music, of the instrument called the giant shakuhachi, but in the video, you can see a more elegant version.

According to Matsunobu (2013), the shakuhachi is a bamboo flute originating in the 8th century. It is culturally associated with the practice of Zen Buddhism, used for the search for spirituality and meditation, in addition to being an intersection between philosophy and music. If we talk about the other commercial, it is simpler and easier, the sound is typical of a Latin American neighborhood, lively and cheerful, and as such, of Brazil as well, but there is another sound as well that inspires the adventure and excitement of soccer.

2.2.2.6. Duration Time

Both commercials last 2 minutes and 1 second, because both, in their own way, tell a story, a process that must happen for the end of the commercial to make sense. On the one hand, in Brazil, Adidas plays a soccer game, and since a child is the one who sets up the game, at the end of it, his mother calls him to come home, since he has already had enough fun; in the other commercial, the two teams prepare to show a good performance, but not only that, they have moments of recreation and fun, to end at the key point: the game. To have key information, Leiter et al. (2023) comment that, to develop an efficient narrative, in order to communicate a story, it goes from thirty seconds to two minutes, short enough to capture the attention of the future client and long enough to achieve the objective of the story being well communicated.

2.2.3. Comparison Number Three (2010)

Figure 15Split Up Service



Note: The authenticity of people is unique, this man goes through different experiences, in his own world, his life is special. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=repfLwivoWM

Figure 16
All teams need the spark



Note: Kaká appears as that unique player, the one who controls Brazilian national football, like a hero heading into the 2010 FIFA World Cup. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qieBSPQIhrA

2.2.3.1. Color

A shift in this aspect of Adidas' cultural adaptation can already be seen in the Japanese commercial, as it is beginning to resemble those of Brazil, with a wide variety of colors. In contrast, the Latin American country's video maintains its essence, its colors in their different shades. However, it would be appropriate to mention the meaning of the three colors of the Brazilian flag, as they appear several times in this commercial. Yellow represents gold, the sun, the energy, and the joy of its people; blue represents its ocean and sky; and finally, green symbolizes nature, a reminder that Brazil is one of the most mega-diverse countries in the world.

2.2.3.2. Characters

Once again, the Brazilian player Kaká appears, with his dominance and as the face of Adidas in the carioca country, he has been a symbol since 2004 until this year, 2010. On the other hand, in the advertising video for Japan, there are different characters, ordinary people, the protagonist and the others are Japanese people, yes, since as mentioned in comparison one, Japanese culture has a thought of distancing itself towards social minorities. As Serrano (2021) argues, the use of a secondary person can generate objectivity, which will make the message sound very strong in the observer, resulting in a friendship between the company that advertises and the one that allows it to receive what it wants to enter its mind.

2.2.3.3. Setting

The important thing about Brazil's commercial for Japan is the variety of locations in which it was filmed, as it shows the essence of a street food stand, the subway, some homes, and more. Therefore, it can be said that, unlike the other advertising videos, the need to showcase Brazil's urban culture was identified, considering that it promotes a collection. In contrast, the Adidas commercial for Brazil, like the video in comparison two, shows a soccer

field—not as street-style as the previous one, but still a soccer field, a sport that is vital to this audience.

2.2.3.4. Narrative and Message

In the commercial for Brazil, some of the national teams that will be participating in the 2010 FIFA World Cup are shown, but the most important thing is that the Brazilian flag appears several times, and some of the players' plays are shown, even displaying superpowers. The Japanese commercial, on the other hand, is very different, as its message is that fashion can be linked to functionality. Stylish clothing supports creativity and encourages the purchase of superior clothing, offering greater safety due to its quality. On the one hand, one commercial promotes such an important global event, while the other showcases a new collection—different approaches and different narratives.

2.2.3.5. Music and Sound

In Adidas' cultural adaptation for Japan, a song can be heard, curiously in Spanish. This is intended to show that while the collection is intended for Japan, the brand is seeking to globalize this collection of garments. Being a rock song, it generates a unique emotion as we watch the protagonist struggle with different adventures, which is considered a great choice. On the other hand, in Brazil, there are voices that narrate the journey soccer stars must go through at a sporting event. In addition, the sound is both intriguing and glorious, and it is thought to be a bit nerve-wracking.

2.2.3.6. Duration Time

In this regard, the Japanese commercial lasts twice as long as the Brazilian one. The Japanese commercial lasts three minutes, while the other lasts one minute and thirty-one seconds. Both tell stories and tales, it is true, but it must be taken into account that in Brazil, the goal is to create an instant impact and, at the same time, the process they must follow to reach glory. On the other hand, in the Asian country, the goal is to portray the daily life of a citizen, what happens to them, with a touch of comedy and curiosity, perhaps to connect with many people who may be going through the same thing.

2.2.4. Comparison Number Four (2014)

Figure 17
All or nothing



Note: A child's dream comes true, it is a life story, with the goal of playing for his national team, he achieves it, and the big moment arrives. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=EEi4Y6Cop3Y

Figure 18 *The dream*



Note: The Brazilian vibe comes to light, and what better time than for the 2014 FIFA World Cup, with celebration and excitement, Dani Alves as the representative figure of the Carioca team. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2MKtM0PqFh4

2.2.4.1. Color

It seems that a variety of colors is becoming a custom for Adidas' advertising videos in Japan, or at least it dominated between 2010 and 2014. This is due to the brand's globalization worldwide, surely with more collections and better strategies to reach different audiences. However, blue is still largely present. In Brazil, unsurprisingly, many colors were used in the commercial, which is not surprising, especially considering that it was promoting the 2014 FIFA World Cup. With this, the color yellow, which is part of the Brazilian national team's uniform, especially stands out, reminding us that yellow, as mentioned in another comparison, represents the sun and the energy of this large audience worldwide.

2.2.4.2. Characters

Once again, and also a cultural adaptation of Brazil, professional soccer players are shown; in this case, it is not Kaká, but Dani Alves. In Japan, a player from the Japanese national team also appears, but it is also important to mention that the entire soccer team is also featured. It should be noted that both commercials feature ordinary people from each

country celebrating goals and experiencing the sport to the fullest. In this respect, these two videos were the most similar.

2.2.4.3. Setting

In this critical marketing factor, there is also a similarity, as soccer stadiums are shown, which is, in fact, where soccer and the upcoming World Cup are held. However, there are also differences, such as the beach and a gym in the video for Brazil. In the other commercial, there are actually several stadiums for the sport being discussed, at different stages of a player's life, but the most important is the Maracanã Stadium, which is near Christ the Redeemer.

2.2.4.4. Narrative and Message

It is possible to start with Brazil, where several world-class soccer players appear, creating a narrative of competition and uncertainty ahead of the World Cup. In addition, the energy of the people of that country, the excitement when Dani Alves scores the goal, everyone united as a nation. That is precisely what happens in the Japan commercial, as it shows the Japanese national team united, giving a final pep talk before the game begins. Another message it hopes to convey is one of overcoming challenges. The Japanese player dreamed of playing in such an important championship since he was a child, and he was able to achieve it, going through different stages.

2.2.4.5. Music and Sound

Upbeat music and a vibrant sound are heard in the Brazilian commercial—no surprise, Brazil is known for it—people speaking in Portuguese and silences that connect to the intrigue of what might happen. On the other hand, in the Japanese brand, the shouts of Japanese soccer fans can be heard, a vibrant sound just like in the previous country. A voice tells the story of a little boy striving for his dreams, which ends with a group shout encouraging each other to play the game to the fullest.

2.2.4.6. Duration Time

In this regard, the two commercials do differ, as the length of one is somewhat long, while the other is somewhat short. As established in the previous comparisons, videos that tell or present stories last between thirty seconds and two minutes, but can last longer if it is essential for the narrative to make sense and the ending to be truly relevant, depending on the intended purpose of the commercial. The commercial in Japan lasts one minute and one

second; in Brazil, it is two minutes and forty-six seconds, as the latter requires more time to showcase more world stars, in addition to promoting the Brazilian soccer ball, not just one, as in the Asian country.

2.2.5. Comparison Number Five (2024-2025)

Figure 19 Y-3 Chapter 1, SS24



Note: The freedom and courage that this collection gives, minimalist as Japan knows best, and at the same time, ready for battle. Instagram. https://www.instagram.com/reel/C3DOFIwIBFV/?igsh=aDBzZmlscXEzYzN1

Figure 20
I am lucky to root for Flamengo!



Note: The flamingo's feather, makes people become fans of Flamengo, and that, along with the colors, unites them in a single passion. Instagram. https://www.instagram.com/reel/DFc0RJbRZUw/?igsh=a2R3MDF2bHU3bnU%3D

2.2.5.1. Color

Since these are clothing items, the difference in context is evident. In Japan, the minimalist, all-black garment, which is part of the Y-3 collection, is very striking, as they are accustomed to simplicity. In contrast, in the Adidas commercial in Brazil, colors are very present, but the focus is on red and black, as these are the colors of Flamengo. While it is true that other colors appear in Japan, although few compared to those used in the other video, they are purely to convey a message, but not as a fundamental part of the commercial, while in Brazil they are.

2.2.5.2. Characters

Brazil does not shift its focus toward the soccer players representing their country or their clubs. De Arrascaeta is one of the professional players featured in the commercial. It is worth noting that a fan of this club appears, but the focus is on him due to the context of the video; the real attention is on the club's new jersey. In Japan, however, celebrities do not appear, instead, ordinary people do. The goal is to penetrate the minds of buyers, making it more familiar and more real, if you will, since ordinary people would be watching ordinary people promoting clothing.

2.2.5.3. Setting

Few scenes were used in both promotional videos, due to their short nature. In Japan, there were two filming locations: a field behind some buildings and a kind of dock, to convey calm and tranquility. In the other country, two houses are shown: one with the fan and the other with the players showing off their full team uniforms for the 2025 season.

2.2.5.4. Narrative and Message

In the Adidas commercial for Brazil, the message is quite creative, as the fan falls on a flamingo feather, which makes him or her become a fan of the team. In the other commercial, the peace felt by those wearing the garments shown is unique, and it also shows strength and character, as, at the beginning, a woman is practicing a martial art wearing a long, black garment. In this case, the dynamic nature of Rio de Janeiro and the tranquility of Japan are highlighted once again.

2.2.5.5. Music and Sound

In Japan, there is not much to speak of; the sound is practically nonexistent, very quiet, with occasional whistles, conveying concentration. In the Latin American country, on the

other hand, the music is vibrant, in the purest style of instruments united to convey a sound of joy and celebration, like Carnival. The sound of the flamingos at the beginning gives complete meaning to what will happen next, an interesting connection.

2.2.5.6. Duration Time

It should be clarified that the time is short in both advertising videos due to their immediacy. According to Castañeda and Ospina (2023), social media and immediacy are directly related due to the speed at which information is disseminated. Therefore, it is a rule that what everyone sees goes viral, generating impressions that efficiently reach people in real time. The Adidas advertising video in Japan lasts 29 seconds; in Brazil, it is 45 seconds.

Once the five comparisons are complete, a table is created summarizing what was studied, for a more concrete and concise view, due to the need for graphic understanding.

Table 3 *Summary of the comparisons*

	Color		Characters	Setting	Narrative and Message	Music and Sound	Duration Time
Adidas Fevernova Experiment	Blue		Shunsuke Nakamura y Naoki Matsuda	Institute for the study of Footballitis	They test the Fevernova ball prior to the 2002 World Cup	Intriguing and perhaps relaxing sound	29 seconds
The ultimate search The Master	Variety colors	of	Kaká	Flight Football pitch	Overcoming, the path Kaká had to follow	A somewhat creepy sound, with a voice narrating a story	2 minutes and 31 seconds
Adidas +10 Italy vs. Japan	White		Shunsuke Nakamura	Kendo training center	Two boys build teams with football stars	Sound and music of the instrument called giant shakuhachi	2 minutes and 1 second
Jose +10	Variety colors	of	Kaká and two boys	Favela	The process of the Japanese national team prior to the match against Italy	The sound is cheerful and lively, there is another sound that inspires adventure and the excitement of football	2 minutes and 1 second
Split Up Service	Variety colors	of	Japanese people	Street food stall Metro Houses	Fashion and functionality, a superior collection	Music curiously in Spanish	3 minutes
All teams need the spark	Yellow Green Blue		Kaká	Football pitch	The Brazilian flag brings the spirit of this country to the surface	Voices narrating the journey that football stars will go through in a sporting event	1 minute and 30 seconds
All or nothing	Variety colors Focused blue	of on	Professional football player and his Japanese national team Japanese people	Football stadium Various and different football pitches	Overcoming A united and strong national team	Shouts of Japanese fans, a vibrant sound	1 minute and 1 second
The dream	Variety colors Focused yellow	of on	Dani Alves Brazilian people	Football stadium Beach Gymnasium	Competition and uncertainty prior to the 2014 World Cup	Upbeat music and a vibrant sound. People speaking in Portuguese	2 minutes and 46 seconds
Y-3 Chapter 1, SS24	Black		Japanese people	A plot of land behind some buildings A sort of pier	Peace, strength, character	The sound is almost null, very stealthy, with whistles at small moments	29 seconds
I am lucky to root for Flamengo!	Red and bl		De Arrascaeta Flamengo Fan	Two houses	The flamingo's feather unites an entire crowd of Flamengo suppporters	The sound of the flamingos The music is vibrant	45 seconds

Note: Concrete differences in cultural adaptation in both countries

2.3. How did Adidas adapt culturally between 2015 and 2023?

Between these years, a world cup took place, which will be fundamental to maintain the thread of the previous years of study. This world sporting event happened in 2018, which took place in Russia. So, we have a comparison between the year 2002 and 2014, this parenthesis is made, with the objective of having a little more flexibility in the study and thus to have more varied information, and then, to have the last comparison, between the year 2024 and 2025, which is the present.

In order to elaborate this section, a global advertising video of Adidas is taken, which promotes the aforementioned World Cup, of course, identifying the adaptation of the company in the Latin American and Asian countries. This will lead to investigate in a less strict way, referring to the fact that there will not be a scheme like the one in the previous section of this study; but rather, to find those special aspects in the selected commercial.

Once the context of this section is understood, we proceed to the study of the advertising video. Adidas launched the commercial called *Create the Answer*, this title may seek that the fans are the protagonist of their own identity, to be themselves, to be creative in their lives. They should not repeat what others do, but rather, do something different, without seeking the approval of others, be a real show, that their life is a show.

Figure 21
Create the Answer



Note. Each person takes his own path, everyone is unique. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hqaUF2JNY_U&t=89s

It can be found that, as such, there is no cultural adaptation in the full sense of the word. You can see the Brazilian soccer player, Roberto Firmino, it was already mentioned before that the public of the Carioca country is attracted in this way, of course there are other ways, but they are not present in this commercial. On the other hand, it is very curious that there are no Japanese soccer players present, there are people with Asian appearance, but there are no people from the Japanese country specifically.

Even stranger, knowing that for the 2018 FIFA World Cup, Adidas was wearing the Japan national team. The most logical reason for this event may be that the company in question did not sponsor Japanese players, only the national team, in that framework, it depends on the contract they have signed, the agreement they have reached. Then, it sought that some people who have similarities in appearance with the Japanese appear in the advertising video, to try to appeal to the public with this strategy.

Beyond that, this commercial is international, and it doesn't really have a clear cultural focus, since it uses action music, which for the context of the game being played and the emotion that is experienced, could easily be directed to the different countries that see it. In one way or another, it was adapted to Brazil more than to Japan, but there is no effort to be more attached to either country, or why not to both countries. So, it is clear that Adidas used standardized marketing strategies, because even soccer players like Mohamed Salah of Egypt and Paul Pogba of France appear in the commercial.

The message to be given, apart from the fact that we should all be unique and different, is that soccer unites, and more than that, it wants to unite all the countries that will be part of what is perhaps the most important sporting event in the world. The time is the necessary to promote this soccer competition, since it lasts one minute and thirty seconds, taking into consideration that it does not tell a story as such, and wants to give a visual and auditory impact that is instantaneous, but at the same time does not tire the viewers. But equally, it is a mistake for Adidas not to have used Japanese soccer players, since it is also clear that, being a sporting event, it is essential that stars appear.

CHAPTER 3 CULTURAL ADAPTATION OF PRODUCTS, GETTING TO KNOW BOTH MARKETS A LITTLE BETTER

In this chapter, we will proceed to briefly study two collections of the company concerned. Of course, these two are focused on both countries, but that does not mean that they also expand into other markets. Therefore, each collection has its essence, that is, there is a reason why it was made this way, with the objective of attracting the public to which it is specially directed to.

To study Japan, the Y-3 collection will be taken into consideration, and to investigate Brazil, the Farm Rio collection has been chosen. Both show what each country is, since, being different, their characteristics differ greatly and it will be possible to show the cultural adaptation, which is central in this research. In addition to this, the purchase behavior of both countries will be shown, since it is another aspect that companies must take into account to be successful, that is, why the Japanese and the Brazilians buy a good, what each one sees in order to acquire a product in this case.

3.1. Products adaptation

3.1.1. Y-3 Collection

This is a collaboration with Japanese fashion expert Yohji Yamamoto, whose goal is to design products that combine the minimalist aesthetics and sporty functionality of the brand. It is characterized by the use of a single color commonly, it has no variety of them, that is, you can see colors like white, black and neutrals in general. While it is true that it uses simplicity, it does not mean that these products are simple, but it has been able to adapt to the Japanese market.

It should be noted that it also has a focus on luxury streetwear, urban fashion, which has been popular in Japan in recent years, not so much before. As seen earlier in the video advertisement studied, this collection seeks to make the Japanese remember their history, because it uses strategies that awaken pride in martial arts. Also, peace, tranquility and sobriety are fundamental elements between what the market sees, and what they will wear if they decide to buy.

Sustainability is another factor used by the brand to attract the Japanese people. Being a developed country, they see life differently, thinking about the future, and if a product has the idea of being sustainable, it will be well received. However, that fact makes goods more

expensive, and by having a good standard of living, it allows people to pay whatever it costs, have their product and help improve the environment.

Surely this collection has had a great impact in the Asian region, since they share cultures and traditions. This means that Adidas has to adapt by country, but being in the same area, the differences will not be so marked, perhaps one or some that are really important for the public to which it is addressed. The success of this collection is due to the good procedure and the great understanding of the respect towards the culture, even more taking into account that Japan is conservative to a great extent.

Figure 22 Y-3 3 Stripes Tracksuit



¥49,500 Y-3 3-STRIPES CHÁNDAL Y-3 para hombre Nuevo

Nota. Clothing item culturally adapted to Japan

3.1.2. Farm Rio Collection

The Brazilian culture, as you have already seen in the advertising videos, is very colorful and lively, which calls for joy to be represented in the products of this collection. It uses tropical prints, and also fuses fashion with functionality. Among many features of this collection, it can be mentioned that its goods are relaxed and comfortable, such as its shorts, oversized t-shirts and others.

It is interesting that, Farm Rio has had as an important point the combination between clothing items and accessories, such as, for example, using the same shapes and colors in both. It could be identified that a visibly light trouser has the same sense with a wallet, so they are combined and Adidas seeks to make you buy both goods at the same time, since, as mentioned, they combine. Brazilian energy is translated in this collection, no doubt about it.

In addition, it has some products with a beach spirit, popular in the essence of the carioca country, mixing elements such as the carnival, its jungle in the Amazon and, in part, its urban identity. Its designs are eye-catching, with artistic and dynamic patterns. The silhouettes of some garments, transmit freedom and connection with the person who wears it, in part, that is the message that the company wants to convey.

With the success of this collection, Adidas already has a marked path to offer new collections with very marked similarities and perhaps one or two differences that make it authentic. The fact that it is so visibly striking, makes it not only accepted by Brazil, but also by South American countries. The region will always have similarities, which favors in part to the standardization by zone in the world, clothing items and prices can be similar.

Figure 23
Adidas x Farm Premium Pants



R\$699,99

Pantalones premium adidas x FARM
Ropa deportiva femenina

Envío gratis para miembros de adiclub

Nota. Clothing item culturally adapted to Brazil

3.2. Consumption behavior of both markets

3.2.1. Brazilian consumer behavior

It is extremely interesting to know what the Brazilian buyer is like, a subject totally linked to the culture of the countries, in this case, of this South American country. This is how, Lucian (2017) in his study of how the Brazilian buyer is, mentions that the first group identified in the Brazilian population is the Quilombolas, an individual profile that values money, the price must be fair, affordable and reasonable, this being the first dimension when choosing a product. And this is corroborated by the fact that, when entering the Adidas Brazil home page, the first thing you can see in large size, is the discount that there is, in addition to the free shipping if you are a member of adiClub, this due to the Adidas Black Friday (n/d). The aforementioned author was correct in his statement, since the brand under

investigation uses a marketing strategy to make the product, at least, look cheaper, since the discount is in plain sight.

The living standard of most Brazilians is considerably normal, if not low. They are people who, not earning a medium or high salary, must often choose between indulging themselves or having the basics for a longer period of time, which causes them to think twice or more times when purchasing a product or service. This generates that the competition between cheap brands is quite strong, since, being economic, the price will determine the purchase or not of what they offer.

3.2.2. Japanese consumer behavior

It should also be pointed out what the Japanese purchasing culture is like; these data are provided by the author McHardy (1995) that, for the Japanese buyer, to buy a product, it must be relevant to the market itself, sold at the right price and be positioned properly, all three of which Adidas has done for a long time. The Japanese public is demanding; one wrong move can cause the loss of a group of people with significant purchasing power.

The above had to be confirmed, and indeed, on the Adidas Japan homepage, the collection is at first glance Adidas Adicolor (n/d), you can go to the list of products and see the Adicolor Short Beanie, which fulfills the function of being relevant, since it is a good to be used in the winter, the fact of being Adidas, already positions it in the mind of the consumer as a high quality product, and the price is not entirely high, since the purchasing power of Japan is considerable, it costs 4730 yen, which to get an idea, is approximately 31 dollars. All in all, this specific good will be successful at the time of year when it is needed.

In this specific country, the standard of living is average for the most part, but that does not mean that many people live comfortably. Compared to Brazil, the Japanese can indulge themselves several times, it is thought that this can even be a daily occurrence, since the salaries of that percentage of people are fairly high. This represents the reason why Adidas in an Asian country is more expensive than in an American country, the approach is different according to the needs of each public.

Figure 24
Adicolor Short Beanie



Nota. Necessary product for winter in Japan

It should be taken into account that, although it is true that the behavior of a culture is studied to compare the customs and traditions of them, there will always be that resemblance between people who earn similar salaries. It may be that a large number of Japanese people earn the same, as well as many people in Brazil earn similar salaries, but that does not mean that a citizen of each country earns exactly the same and sees consumption in a different way. Therefore, some clothes will be more expensive, there will be people from the Carioca country that buy more expensive products than individuals from the Japanese country, it depends on what each one lives.

It is essential to recognize that culture is a similar behavior between people, but there are also differences and similarities between cultures. The issue of money can be seen in a more focused way between countries on the subject of the economy of each one, also, it can be seen from a perspective of how the wealthy people of each nation buy. Adidas has different prices, since it knows how to recognize which product is focused on each niche, it is not closed to the idea that simply in a country individuals have more or less purchasing power.

The culture is always changing, it may be that, at some point, Adidas will see with good eyes not to have so many discounts in Brazil, but rather in Japan. It depends largely on the progress of each country, understanding this as a better economy, that each family has more resources and is willing to buy this brand. It is not superfluous to mention that the collections may also change, may have new approaches and may also have a mix between Japanese and Brazilian collections.

For example, the brand may offer a collection for both countries, where it respects that some clothing items are of a single color, and others with several colors. This does not detract from the fact that each buyer chooses according to their tastes, but also encourages them to be able to consider new ways of dressing. This may cause each culture to be modified, as

both countries will be able to observe new clothing customs and that would change what has been thought for decades in both nations.

CONCLUSIONS

In this section, we will present the conclusions of the comparisons made between the culturally adapted commercials in the two countries mentioned. We will also present the results of the collections that were included in this research and how they differ. In addition to what was obtained about the consumption behavior of both countries.

Regarding specific objectives one and two, which deal with cultural differences in product adaptation and marketing strategies in advertising campaigns, the following is concluded:

First, advertising videos. Having had the critical marketing factors as a basis for comparison, they are brought back in this section, since similarities have been seen in some and differences in others. The criterion is the same, since professional soccer players from both countries were the most used, but it should be clear that they appear much more when it comes to commercials promoting sporting events and products, such as the videos for the World Cup, the Fevernova soccer ball or Flamengo's apparel.

On the other hand, when it comes to collections, the company uses much more people who are not famous, looking for a realistic sense between that character and the people who will see the commercial. The colors, on the other hand, in Brazil, are used in a wide variety, due to the Brazilian culture, attached to festivities such as carnival, popular areas and its diversity in general. On the other hand, in Japan, the use of colors is based on the concentration of one or two of these, because of its attachment to the simple and to what brings peace and tranquility, minimalism in particular.

In the aspect of the setting, it was found that it depends a lot on the narrative and the message you want to convey at a specific time, both go strongly hand in hand, here it no longer depends on the countries, but on a criterion more attached to the generality. This changes according to the communication content, then, there are already three factors that go in the same line. When you want to tell a story, which wants to show several events happening, having many scenarios in between, the advertising video can last from two minutes to three minutes long.

However, there is another conclusion that is related to the previous one, since, when you want to tell a story, but it has few events, there are no longer several settings in which

such a story happens. This makes the commercial last a little more or a little less than a minute, which seeks to generate an impression that causes curiosity in the viewer and looking for people not to get bored because of the time issue. It is interesting, due to the society accustomed to immediacy, the advertising videos that were compared between the year 2024 and 2025, last less than a minute.

One commercial seeks to promote a collection; the other, a team's apparel. In this case, it does not tell a story, but it can convey different meanings according to the perception of each one. The settings used are few, two each, and it is suggested that an interpretation is sought rather than a single idea behind a whole work to film and publish a commercial.

An extra section was made in this comparison, since, in 2018, for the FIFA World Cup, it was found that there was no cultural adaptation as such. This generates a somewhat confusing position, since in previous World Cups it had been taken as a good strategy to adapt. This time Adidas decided to make a more general advertising video, more standardized and looking for the message to connect with everyone, since it is a global sporting event.

The cultural adaptation that was found was the use of professional soccer players, this in the aspect of characters. Kaká was the face of the commercials between 2002 and 2010. In this case, in 2018, Roberto Firmino appeared representing Brazil, although it is true that he is not a figure that influences Brazilians at all, the criterion remains the same when promoting sporting events, famous players.

Nevertheless, what is more intriguing is that Adidas did not use Japanese soccer players, it had been already done before. Nor did it use people who are not famous, but rather it used characters who looked like they were from that country, that is to say, Asian-looking. At that time, Adidas was sponsoring the Japanese national team, but the jersey of that team did not appear either.

It can be deduced that the message the company wanted to convey was that of being original, each person is a world, everyone has their own essence, everyone makes their own decisions. That is to say, the narrative was not focused on a specific country, neither in Latin America nor in Asia. It used standardized strategies, which could seduce any soccer fan, regardless of the culture.

This leads to think that Adidas is starting to use general strategies in terms of its commercials that promote sporting events, and not so much cultural adaptation. This is due to the globalized world in which we live, all cultures have been influenced by others, due to the openness that exists in different aspects, such as social, for example. It is not assured that soon there will be an extremely large influence from one people to another, but it is assured that the influence is becoming stronger.

Now, we can begin with the conclusions of the adaptation of the brand's products in the two countries. Both collections studied are correctly adapted culturally, on the one hand, there is the Farm Rio, and on the other, the Y-3.

The Y-3 collection uses simple colors, such as black and white in most of its products. On the other hand, the other collection with its varied colors and making sense of the joyful and lively culture of Brazil. In some clothing items there may be shapes that represent the leaves of the trees, different tropical aspects, which leads to the one who buys these goods, immediately remember places like the beach.

On the other hand, the seriousness, peace and tranquility conveyed by Y-3 products is perhaps totally different from Latin American thinking. However, it resembles Asian ideas and is totally attached to Japanese ones. A similarity between the two nations is that, although it is true that both are collaborations, the Adidas Farm Rio is between companies, while the other is with the fashion designer Yohji Yamamoto, this shows that the Japanese and the Carioca culture are proud when their product really carries their essence, and what better than with collaborations of companies or people recognized by each nation, and who know how the environment moves.

Taking the specific objective three, about the success of Adidas due to its marketing strategies in both countries, it is concluded that:

Price is another factor that is different, this goes hand in hand with consumer behavior. It is true that both cultures give importance to price, but one is developed, the other is in the process of development. So, Japanese people have more ease of payment, so they are willing to pay a high price, as long as the product is of good quality, and it is necessary for a specific moment.

The Brazilian people have another logic, since, even if they like a product, the price will be decisive for the purchase decision. Adidas has been able to adapt, there are always discounts on some of its garments, in order to compete with other cheaper brands, as the company is of excellent quality, but the Brazilian sees the price as important. In addition, if the customer is a member of AdiClub, he has free shipping on what he has purchased, many benefits.

The general objective of this research was to analyze the cultural adaptation of international marketing in Adidas products and communications in Brazil and Japan.

What was studied indicated that there is a relationship between what a company produces and what the potential customer sees and hears. It is essential for any company that wants to enter a specific market to know how to do so, and that is why it is so important to understand the thinking of that target audience. Commercials are a means to connect people's minds with the brand itself, and what better way to do it than to include factors that are part of the culture of a specific region or country in that advertising video.

All people feel flattered when their country is remembered or recognized, and that feeling is a great opportunity for companies to form a strong message that transcends borders and their product is really strengthened. It would be appropriate for Ecuadorian companies wishing to enter the Japanese and Brazilian apparel markets to consider this research because it is comprehensive. The critical marketing factors examined provide a fairly clear framework for effective communication on the part of the company.

Fashion is a vital factor in the lives of those who want to look good, it is a field that grows day by day, companies, indeed, know how to read people's tastes. It is recommended that those businesses go beyond, open their mind and understand why an element is so important for a country, besides recognizing what people find distasteful, whether partial or complete. To be one more of the target culture, to feel and understand why they feel what they feel, is the job of those at the top of the companies, working together with the marketing department.

BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES

- Adidas. (2002). *Experimento Adidas Fevernova*. [Adidas Fevernova Experiment] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BxEH9SCvsWQ
- Adidas. (2004). *La búsqueda definitiva El Maestro*. [The ultimate quest The Master] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KY5ojVcy1SE
- Adidas. (2006a). *Adidas* +10 *Italia vs. Japón*. [Adidas +10 Italy vs. Japan] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hSMSGloO2so
- Adidas. (2006b). José +10. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9uClfEc8CxQ
- Adidas. (2010a). Servicio Split Up. [Split Up Service] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=repfLwivoWM
- Adidas. (2010b). *Todos los Equipos Necesitan la Chispa* [All Teams Need the Spark]. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qieBSPQIhrA
- Adidas. (2014a). El Sueño. [The Dream] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2MKtM0PqFh4
- Adidas. (2014b). Todo o nada. [All or Nothing] https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=EEi4Y6Cop3Y
- Adidas. (2024a). Gorro Corto Adicolor. [Adicolor Short Cap]
- Adidas. (2024b). *Y-3 Capítulo 1, SS24*. [Y-3 Chapter 1, SS24] https://www.instagram.com/reel/C3DOFIwIBFV/?igsh=aDBzZmlscXEzYzN1
- Adidas. (2025a). *Chándal Y-3 3 Bandas*. [Y-3 3 Band Tracksuit] https://www.adidas.jp/y-3-3-stripes-track-top/JN4988.html
- Adidas. (2025b). *Chaqueta Logo Coach Y-3*. [Coach Y-3 Logo Jacket] https://www.adidas.co/chaqueta-logo-coach-y-3/IQ2137.html
- Adidas. (2025c). *Pantalón Premium Adidas x Farm*. [Adidas x Farm Premium Pant https://www.adidas.com.br/calca-premium-adidas-x-farm-/JD6301.html
- Adidas. (2025d). *¡Tengo suerte de ser del Flamengo!*. [I'm lucky to be a Flamengo fan!] https://www.instagram.com/reel/DFc0RJbRZUw/?igsh=a2R3MDF2bHU3bnU%3D
- Adidas. (2025e). Y-3. https://www.adidas.es/y_3
- Adidas Brasil. (s/f). *Adidas Viernes Negro*. [Adidas Black Friday] Recuperado el 24 de octubre de 2024, de https://www.adidas.com.br/
- Adidas Japón. (s/f). *Adidas Adicolor*. Recuperado el 24 de octubre de 2024, de https://www.adidas.jp/%E3%82%A2%E3%83%87%E3%82%A3%E3%82%AB%E3%83%A9%E3%83%87%E3%82%AB%E3%83%A9%E3%83%87%E3%82%AB%E3%83%A9%E3%83%BC?grid=true&sort=newest-to-oldest
- Akgun, A., Kocoglu, I., & Imamoglu, S. (2013). An emerging consumer experience: The emotional brand. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 503–508.
- Albarracin Herrera, L. S., Rodríguez Linares, D. A., & Carpio Segura, D. E. (2022). Los Impactos del Marketing Sensorial en la Publicidad. [The Impacts of Sensory Marketing in Advertising] *Illustro*, *13*, 83–107. https://doi.org/10.36901/illustro.v13i1.1490
- Alfredo Di Stefano. (1959). Sus mejores frases: "Nadie es tan bueno como todos juntos". [His best quotes: "No one is as good as all of us put together".] Diario AS. https://as.com/futbol/2014/07/07/primera/1404754341_700041.html
- Álvarez-Rodríguez, V., & Jiménez-Marín, G. (2022). El branded content como ejercicio literario. Castle y la novela policiaca. [Branded content as a literary exercise. Castle and the crime novel] *Miguel Hernández Communication Journal*, 13, 383–405. https://doi.org/10.21134/mhjournal.v13i.1485
- Ancin, I. (2018). Análisis de los Distintos Tipos de Campañas Publicitarias y sus Diferentes Aplicaciones para lograr lo Mejor de las Marcas. [Analysis of the Different Types of Advertising Campaigns and their Different Applications to achieve the Best of Brands.] *Revista Caribeña De Ciencias Sociales*. www.eumed.net/rev/caribe/2018/05/tipos-campanas-publicitarias.html
- Aymerich Franch, L. (2013). Oportunidades de desarrollo para la publicidad en la televisión interactiva: diseño y tipos de incentivo en los formatos de DAL. [Development opportunities for interactive television advertising: design and incentive types in DAL formats.] *Pensar la Publicidad. Revista Internacional de Investigaciones Publicitarias*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.5209/rev_pepu.2012.v6.n2.41218
- Baalbaki, I. B., & Malhotra, N. K. (1993). Marketing Management Bases for International Market Segmentation: An Alternative Look at the Standardization/Customization Debate. *International Marketing Magazine*, 10(1), 19–44. https://doi.org/10.1108/02651339310025839
- Bergkvist, L., & Zhou, K. Q. (2016). Celebrity endorsements: a literature review and research agenda. *International Journal of Advertising*, 35(4), 642–663. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2015.1137537
- Castañeda, J. D., & Ospina-Alvarado, M. C. (2023). Ciberactivismo y tecnopolítica. Construcción de ciudadanías desde la socialización política, internet y las redes. [Cyberactivism and technopolitics. Construction of citizenship from political socialization, internet and networks.] *El Ágora USB*, 22(2), 788–800. https://doi.org/10.21500/16578031.5857
- Castro, E., & Lerma, A. (2010). Comercio y marketing internacional. [International trade and marketing]

- Cea Esteruelas, N. (2014). El modelo publicitario de los periódicos online. [The online newspaper advertising model] *adComunica*, 49–68. https://doi.org/10.6035/2174-0992.2014.7.4
- Charlie Torres. (2009, agosto 29). Publicidad que mina la moral: "Mis expectativas son mayores que las tuyas". [Advertising that undermines morale: "My expectations are higher than yours".] https://sinfuturoysinunduro.wordpress.com/2009/08/29/publicidad-que-mina-la-moral-mis-expectativas-son-mayores-que-las-tuyas/
- Chaurasia, M., Singh, V., & Kumar, K. (2023). Estimation and comparison of masstige value of renowned footwear brands using the MMS scale. *Public Policy and Research International*, 2(2).
- Chen, S. (2023). The impact of FIFA World Cup Sponsorship on the Expected Return of Adidas: A CAPM Analysis. *Advances in Economics, Management and Political Sciences*, 61(1), 204–209. https://doi.org/10.54254/2754-1169/61/20231257
- Choi, S. M., & Rifon, N. J. (2012). It's a match: The Impact of Congruence between Celebrity Image and Consumer Ideal Self on endorsement effectiveness. *Psychology and Marketing*, 29(9), 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20550
- Coca Cola. (2014). *La Copa de Todos Coca Cola Mundial 2014*. [Everyone's Cup Coca Cola World Cup 2014] YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F jYyuvHfv0
- Cojocaru, M. (s/f). Impacto de la Cultura en el Marketing Global. [Impact of Culture on Global Marketing]
- Contreras Fernández, J. (2008). Silencio conversacional e imagen social en dos contextos socioculturales. [Conversational silence and social image in two sociocultural contexts.] *Pragmatics*, 18(4), 707–728. https://doi.org/10.1075/prag.18.4.07con
- EAE Business School Barcelona. (2024). *Marketing deportivo: estrategias y tendencias para destacar en el sector*. [Sports marketing: strategies and trends to stand out in the sector] EAE Escuela de Negocios Barcelona. https://www.eaebarcelona.com/es/blog/que-es-marketing-deportivo
- El Confidencial. (2015, enero 3). *Wayne Rooney, protagonista de la nueva campaña de Nike*. [Wayne Rooney, protagonist of the new Nike campaign] https://www.elconfidencial.com/deportes/2006-06-22/wayne-rooney-protagonista-de-la-nueva-campana-de-nike_664398/
- Escalas, J. E., & Bettman, J. R. (2003). You Are What They Eat: The Influence of Reference Groups on Consumers' Connections to Brands. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 13(3), 339–348. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327663JCP1303_14
- Falero Folgoso, F. J., & González Ansorena, L. (2023). Paisajismo, color y estado de ánimo en la cultura japonesa del período Muromachi. [Landscaping, color and mood in Japanese culture of the Muromachi period.] *Mirai. Estudios Japoneses*, 7, 31–43. https://doi.org/10.5209/mira.86038
- Fernández, J. G. F., & Pastor, E. M. (2016). El tratamiento informativo y publicitario de los diarios digitales especializados en golf en España. [The informative and advertising treatment of digital newspapers specializing in golf in Spain] *Cuadernos de Turismo*, 37. https://doi.org/10.6018/turismo.37.256191
- Fernández-Gómez, E., Segarra-Saavedra, J., & Feijoo, B. (2023). Alfabetización publicitaria y niños. Revisión bibliográfica de Web of Science (WOS) y Scopus (2010-2022). [Advertising literacy and children. Literature review of Web of Science (WOS) and Scopus (2010-2022).] *Revista Latina de Comunicacion Social*, 2023(81), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.4185/RLCS-2023-1892
- Flora, D., Siles, R., Luis, J., & Panadero, C. (2015). *Publicidad y deporte: análisis de las estrategias persuasivas de las grandes marcas deportivas*. [Advertising and sport: analysis of the persuasive strategies of major sports brands] http://www.efdeportes.com/http://www.efdeportes.com/efd204/publicidad-y-deporte-estrategias-persuasivas.htm
- Fusté-Forné, F. (2018). Celebridades sociales y mediáticas: Un análisis de las portadas del suplemento El Magazine (1990-2016). [Social and media celebrities: An analysis of El Magazine supplement covers (1990-2016)] En *Estudios Sobre el Mensaje Periodistico* (Vol. 24, Número 2, pp. 1239–1250). Universidad Compultense Madrid. https://doi.org/10.5209/ESMP.62212
- Goliat. (2020, febrero 11). *Nike vs Adidas. El otro clásico*. [Nike vs Adidas. The other classic] https://www.grupogoliat.com/nike-vs-adidas-el-otro-clasico/
- Ito, N. (2021). Um Breve Percurso Histórico sobre o Budō: de arte marcial japonesa à prática esportiva mundial. [A Brief History of Budō: from a Japanese martial art to a worldwide sporting practice]
- Jiménez-Marín, G., Bellido-Pérez, E., & López-Cortés, Á. (2019). Marketing sensorial: el concepto, sus técnicas y su aplicación en el punto de venta. [Sensory marketing: the concept, its techniques and its application at the point of sale] *Vivat Academia. Revista de Comunicación*, 121–147. https://doi.org/10.15178/va.2019.148.121-147
- Jurado Vinueza, E., & Jaramillo, E. (2016). Marketing Internacional. [International Marketing] *Revista de investigación INNOVA*, *I*(1), 8–18. https://doi.org/10.33890/innova.v1.n1.2016.3
- Keegan, W. J., & Green, M. C. (2009). *Marketing Internacional*. [International Marketing] (Sánchez M, Trad.). www.pearsoneducacion.net/keegan

- Kumar, J. S. (2017). The Psychology of Colour Consumer's buying behaviour A Diagnostic Study. *Ushus Business Management Magazine*, 16(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.12725/ujbm.41.1
- Kwan Chung, C. K. (2022). Histórica revisión sistemática sobre el comercio electrónico en ISI Web of Knowledge, 1997-2006. [Historical systematic review of e-commerce in ISI Web of Knowledge, 1997-2006] Ciencia Latina Revista Científica Multidisciplinar, 6(5), 188–212. https://doi.org/10.37811/cl_rcm.v6i5.3069
- LatinSpots.com. (2014a, mayo 21). Coca Cola presenta el emotivo comercial de Martín Mercado para el Mundial 2014. [Coca Cola presents Martín Mercado's emotional commercial for the World Cup 2014] LatinSpots.com. https://www.latinspots.com/noticia/coca-cola-presenta-el-emotivo-comercial-de-martn-mercado-para-el-mundial-2014/32651
- LatinSpots.com. (2014b, agosto 12). *Más rápidos por siempre, lo nuevo de Puma*. [Faster forever, the new from Puma] LatinSpots.com. https://www.latinspots.com/noticia/forever-faster-lo-nuevo-de-puma/33461
- Llamazares, O. (2016). Marketing Internacional. *Estrategias globales de marketing*. [International Marketing. Global marketing strategies] 1–213.
- Llorente Barroso, C., García García, F., & Soria Jiménez, V. (2018). Análisis comparativo de la simbología cromática en publicidad. NIKE en China y España. [Comparative analysis of chromatic symbology in advertising. NIKE in China and Spain] *Vivat Academia. Revista de Comunicación*, 51–78. https://doi.org/10.15178/va.2018.142.51-78
- Lucian, R. (2017). How Brazilians shop? An investigation of Brazilians' consumer values, lifestyles and mindset. *International Journal of Emerging Markets*, *12*(2), 238–262. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJoEM-04-2014-0049
- Malär, L., Krohmer, H., Hoyer, W. D., & Nyffenegger, B. (2011). Emotional Brand Attachment and Brand Personality: The Relative Importance of the Actual and the Ideal Self. *Marketing Magazine*, 75, 35–52.
- Marín Montín, J., Fernández Gómez, J. D., & Gordillo Rodríguez, M. T. (2024). Endorsement publicitario en Instagram: valores de marca y celebridades deportivas en España. [Advertising endorsement on Instagram: brand values and sports celebrities in Spain] adComunica, 105–138. https://doi.org/10.6035/adcomunica.7761
- Martínez-Pastor, E., & Vizcaíno-Laorga, R. (2021). Menores y publicidad de juegos de azar en Internet: Nuevos formatos, contenidos publicitarios y retos en la protección de los menores. [Minors and gambling advertising on the Internet: New formats, advertising content and challenges in the protection of minors] *Profesional de la Informacion*, 30(4). https://doi.org/10.3145/epi.2021.jul.20
- Matsunobu, K. (2013). Instrument-making as music-making: An ethnographic study of shakuhachi students' learning experiences. *International Journal of Music Education*, 31(2), 190–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/0255761413486858
- Mccracken, G. (1989). Who is the Celebrity Endorser? Cultural Foundations of the Endorsemeny Process.
- McHardy, D. (1995). Executive Insights: Perspectives for International Marketers on the Japanese Market.
- Melo Filho, J. C. de. (2024). Neuromarketing: a influência da neurociência na publicidade digital. [Neuromarketing: the influence of neuroscience on digital advertising] *Contribuciones a las Ciencias Sociales*, 17(8), e9134. https://doi.org/10.55905/revconv.17n.8-056
- Montes de Oca, H. C. (2021). Evolución del concepto calidad y aporte al desarrollo regenerativo desde la estrategia empresarial. [Evolution of the concept of quality and contribution to regenerative development from a business strategy perspective] *Revista Perspectiva Empresarial*, 8(2), 48–64. https://doi.org/10.16967/23898186.717
- Moral, M. de la V., & González, C. (2023). Marketing sensorial y perfil del consumidor: *Pensando Psicología*. [Sensory Marketing and Consumer Profiling: Thinking Psychology] *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.16925/2382-3984.2022.01.03
- Moreira, M., & Hijós, N. (2013). Clubes Deportivos, Fútbol y Mercantilización: Los Casos de Boca Juniors e Independiente en la Argentina. [Sports Clubs, Soccer and Commercialization: The Cases of Boca Juniors and Independiente in Argentina] 37(Universidad de Buenos Aires), 149–162.
- Nike. (2012). *Nike: Encuentra tu grandeza*. [Nike: Find your greatness] YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Tz2643pkb6k
- Odetti, J. (2021). Los Colores de Puerto Vallarta, en la construcción cultural urbana de una ciudad turística. 1990-2016. [The Colors of Puerto Vallarta, in the urban cultural construction of a touristic city. 1990-2016] Cuadernos del Centro de Estudios de Diseño y Comunicación, 148.
- Osejo-Bucheli, C. (2021). Demostración lógica sobre coherencia de filosofía de la ciencia y métodos cualitativos de investigaciónen gestión. [Logical demonstration on consistency of philosophy of science and qualitative methods of management research] *Revista Educación en Ingeniería*, 16(32), 76–86. https://doi.org/10.26507/rei.v16n32.1191

- Palencia-Lefler, M. (2022). Usos del silencio en la publicidad audiovisual: Una perspectiva creativa. *Signo y Pensamiento*. [Uses of silence in audiovisual advertising: A creative perspective. Sign and Thought] *41*. https://doi.org/10.11144/Javeriana.syp41.uspa
- Palma, C. M. C., Jiménez, M. M. J., & Miranda, D. I. C. (2023). La influencia de la publicidad en línea en el comportamiento del consumidor: estrategias, efectividad y tendencias actuales. [The influence of online advertising on consumer behavior: strategies, effectiveness and current trends] *Revista de Desarrollo del Sur de Florida*, 4(8), 2996–3011. https://doi.org/10.46932/sfjdv4n8-005
- Partzsch, L. (2018). Es hora de actuar. La legitimidad del poder de las celebridades en el ámbito de las Relaciones Internacionales. [It is time to act. The legitimacy of celebrity power in the field of International Relations] *Foro Internacional*, 58(2), 205. https://doi.org/10.24201/fi.v58i2.2502
- Peña, A. Q. (2006). *Metodología de Investigación Científica Cualitativa*. [Qualitative Scientific Research Methodology]
- Puma. (2014). *Más rápidos por siempre-Llamando a todos los alborotadores*. [Faster forever-Calling all troublemakers] YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AC3slFbgMyw
- Ramírez, J., & Perdiguero, J. R. (2006). *Innovación y Marketing Deportivo: La Creatividad*. [Innovation and Sports Marketing: Creativity] www.icono14.net/revista
- RunMX. (2012). *Nike lanza la campaña Encuentra tu Grandeza*. [Nike launches the Find Your Greatness campaign] RunMX. https://runmx.com/nike-lanza-la-campan%CC%83a-encuentra-tu-grandeza/
- Samiee, S., & Walters, P. G. P. (2003). Relationship marketing in an international context: A literature review. *International Business Magazine*, 12(2), 193–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0969-5931(02)00096-3
- Sánchez, C. (2007). Estrategias publicitarias televisivas. [Television advertising strategies] Universidad Pontificia de Salamanca, 51–65.
- Sánchez, M. (2005). La metodología en la investigación cualitativa. [Methodology in qualitative research]
- Serrano, M. (2021). La función de los constructores de espacio mental en el discurso publicitario: el uso de la segunda persona objetivadora tú. [The role of mental space constructors in advertising discourse: the use of the second person objectifier you] *Universidad de La Laguna*, 62, 385–411. https://doi.org/10.13039/501100011033
- Soliño, A. Q. (2020). La Representación del 'Otro Cultural' en Japón: el Caso de Detective Conan e Inuyasha. [The Representation of the 'Cultural Other' in Japan: The Case of Detective Conan and Inuyasha] *AILIJ. Anuario de Investigación en Literatura Infantil y Juvenil*, 18. https://doi.org/10.35869/ailij.v0i18.2715
- Tienda Fácil. (2011). Tienda Fácil. [Easy Store] https://www.wqusales.store/?ggcid=1644502
- Todarello, F., Raimundi, M. J., Leiter, E., & Morillo, M. (2023). Videos inspiradores: efectos en los niveles de atención y activación en jugadoras de roller derby. [Inspirational videos: effects on attention and activation levels in roller derby players] *Educación Física y Ciencia*, 25(3), e272. https://doi.org/10.24215/23142561e272
- Tomasi, A. C., Da, D., Silva, R. S., Corrêa, P., Cristofolini, M., Damaceno, A. R., Oliari, D. E., Manfrini, J. E., & Sabino, L. B. (2014). *Adidas: Chegou a Hora*. [Adidas: The time has come] https://portalintercom.org.br/anais/sul2014/expocom/EX40-1683-1.pdf
- Ugalde-Ramírez, J. A., & Rodríguez-Porras, L. (2021). Indicadores técnicos que influyeron sobre el rendimiento deportivo de los equipos en el mundial femenino 2019. [Technical indicators that influenced the sports performance of the teams in the 2019 Women's World Cup] *Revista Iberoamericana de Ciencias de la Actividad Física y el Deporte*, 10(2), 112–125. https://doi.org/10.24310/riccafd.2021.v10i2.11828
- Unir Revista. (2025). ¿Qué es el marketing deportivo? [What is sports marketing?] unir LA UNIVERSIDAD EN INTERNET. https://www.unir.net/revista/marketing-comunicacion/marketing-deportivo-que-es/
- Universidad Europea. (2024, julio 22). *Campaña de publicidad: qué es y cómo hacerla*. [Advertising campaign: what is it and how to do it?] Universidad Europea. https://universidadeuropea.com/blog/campana-publicidad/
- Van Heerden, C. H., & Barter, C. (2008). The role of culture in determination of a standardized or localized marketing strategy. En *J.Bus.Manage* (Número 2).
- Villacís, X., & Medina, R. (2023). Publicidad persuasiva: el lado creativo desde la inteligencia artificial. [Persuasive advertising: the creative side of artificial intelligence] *Revista Dilemas Contemporáneos: Educación, Política y Valores*.
- Villegas-Torres, D., Medina-Paredes, V., & Abril-Freire, M. (2020). Psicología del consumidor y las nuevas tendencias en los medios de comunicación publicitaria. [Consumer psychology and new trends in the advertising media] *593 Digital Publisher CEIT*, *5*(5), 169–182. https://doi.org/10.33386/593dp.2020.5.270
- Vladimirova, G., & Marinov, B. (2017). Ethical Aspects of Color Impact in Cross-Cultural Marketing Communications. En *KNOWLEDGE-International Journal* (Vol. 19).

- Worldpackers. (2024, febrero 13). *Explorando la cultura de Brasil: música, arte, gastronomía y más*. [Exploring Brazil's culture: music, art, gastronomy and more] https://www.worldpackers.com/es/articles/cultura-de-brasil
- Xu, Z. (2024). The evolution of cultural symbols in graphic design. *Frontiers in Art Research*, 6(4), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.25236/far.2024.060415
- Yalán Dongo, E. (2021). Trayectos de la publicidad popular: Semiótica de la gráfica publicitaria en espacios visualmente contaminados en el centro de Lima, Perú. [Trajectories of popular advertising: Semiotics of advertising graphics in visually polluted spaces in downtown Lima, Peru.] *Revista Global Media México*, 17(33). https://doi.org/10.29105/gmjmx17.33-5